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Wednesday, July 13, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.

Good morning, my name is Allison Duff.  I will be presiding today, and with me is my colleague, Susan Frank.

The OEB is sitting today on an application brought forward by Grimsby Power Inc. to change its electricity distribution rates in two-16.  This application has been assigned OEB File No. EB-2015-0072.

The record in this matter sets out various procedural steps that have taken place in this application.  And we understand the parties have reached a partial settlement regarding the issues in the application.

The Panel has reviewed the settlement proposal that was filed, and the Panel will have some questions during this oral phase.  We also understand that there are three issues that remain unsettled, and we will hear oral testimony on those three areas of evidence.

OEB Staff has developed a hearing plan which I take it has been distributed to the parties.  I trust everyone has a copy.  According to this plan we are going to sit today until 4:45 and resume on Thursday, July the 14th from 1:00 'til 5:00 p.m., and then we'll sit on Friday, July 15th from 9:30 'til 12:00 as necessary.

And I appreciate these time slots are estimates, but I wanted to be clear that the oral phase of this hearing is to conclude this week.

It is the Panel's expectations that on Friday morning the applicant will deliver argument in-chief, providing there is time.

So any request to change any of the time estimates or requirements on this hearing plan, please confer with OEB Staff.  Dates for filing written argument and reply argument will be discussed later in the proceeding.

Before we proceed may I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Good morning, Ms. Frank.  My name is James Sidlofsky, counsel to Grimsby Power.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning.

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning.  Randy Aiken on behalf of Energy Probe.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Good morning.

MR. STOLL:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Scott Stoll for Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Stoll.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Janigan.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for OEB Staff, and with me on behalf of Staff are Raj Sabharwal and Martha McOuat.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning.

Now, are there any preliminary matters before we begin?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Not exactly, Madam Chair, but I should note that we filed a package of CVs yesterday.  I believe my friend, Ms. Djurdjevic, has those, and the Panel may already have them as well.  Those are the CVs for our Grimsby Power witnesses.

The CV for Mr. Picard, who is being presented as an expert in regulatory accounting, forms part of his report that was filed on June 29th as part of Grimsby Power's evidence update.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Should we file those?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we should make those exhibits, so the first will be Exhibit K1.1, letter dated July 11, 2016 with attached CVs for applicant's witness panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  LETTER DATED JULY 11, 2016 WITH ATTACHED CVS FOR APPLICANT'S WITNESS PANEL

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And then K1.2 will be the KPMG report dated -- well, it's dated July 13, 2016.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  KPMG REPORT DATED JULY 13, 2016 (PRESENTATION SLIDES)


MS. DUFF:  The KPMG report, was that not given an exhibit during the technician conference, or is this something different?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, maybe I can clarify that.  What was provided yesterday together with the CV package was a set of presentation slides that Mr. Picard is going to be using in examination in-chief this morning.  So those haven't been marked yet.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That set of slides should be marked as an exhibit this morning, I think, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  The panel -- I do not have a copy of that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's K1.2.  Do we -- Mr. Sidlofsky, do you have extras, or --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do.  It seems like a number of us have extras, so, yes, happy to provide those.  If you could just bear with me for a minute.

MS. DUFF:  So this one is K1.2?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's right, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Any other preliminary matters?

Well, as people have their cross-examination we can also mark their compendiums in the proper order.  That's great.

So Mr. Sidlofsky, are you prepared to introduce your first panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am.  Thank you.

As the Board is aware from the hearing plan and from -- will be aware from our letter of yesterday, Grimsby Power will be presenting two witness panels in this hearing.

The first will relate to the outstanding PILs issue.  The second will relate to OM&A, and that panel will also be in a position to respond to cross-examination questions about the effective date, which is the third outstanding issue that was not settled in the settlement conference.

So specifically on PILs, the PILs issue isn't an issue on its own.  It is really subsumed within issues 2.1 and 2.2 of the OEB approved issues list.  Those issues relate to revenue requirements, so issue 2.1 asks whether all elements of the revenue requirement are reasonable and have they been appropriately determined in accordance with OEB policies and practices, and issue 2.2 is:  Has the revenue requirement been accurately determined based on these elements.

So this panel dealing with PILs will be addressing questions that are specifically PILs-related, because that issue is partially settled, but in order to deal with that we have three Grimsby Power representatives.  I'll introduce them by name first of all.  And they'll need to be affirmed as well.

But from my far left, Doug Curtiss, CEO of Grimsby Power.  To his right, Mioara -- and that's M-i-o-a-o-r-a -- Domokos, D-o-m -- excuse me.

MS. DOMOKOS:  M-i-o-a-r-a.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I just missed a letter there.  Domokos, D-o-m-o-k-o-s, director of finance for Grimsby Power.  And to her right, Amy La Selva, financial and regulatory analyst for Grimsby Power.  To Ms. La Selva's right is Michel Picard, a partner with KPMG.  I will be asking Mr. Picard some questions and asking the Board to qualify him as an expert in regulatory accounting momentarily.

Perhaps we could get the witnesses affirmed, and then I'll take you through all of their qualifications.
GRIMSBY POWER INC. - PANEL 1, PILs
Doug Curtiss,

Mioara Domokos,

Amy La Selva,

Michel Picard; Affirmed.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Frank.

I'm going to begin with you, Mr. Curtiss.  I understand that you are the chief executive officer for Grimsby Power.


MR. CURTISS:  I am.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that you've been with the utility since 2010.  Prior to that, manager of operations for Haldeman County Hydro –


MR. CURTISS:  That’s correct.


MR. SIDOFSKY:  -- 2005 to 2010.  And from 1983 to 2005, you've had various positions of increasing responsibility within Hamilton Hydro, including periods as director of construction and director of supply chain management.  Is that right?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a professional engineer?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What is your area of responsibility in this application?


MR. CURTISS:  My area of responsibility is the overall preparation of the whole application in its entirety.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And moving on to you, Ms. Domokos, director of finance for Grimsby Power since 2008?


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You hold a bachelor’s degree in economics and you have a certified general accountant designation.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, I do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you tell the Board your area of responsibility in the application?


MS. DOMOKOS:  I'm responsible for the overall preparation of the Grimsby Power cost of service application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Ms. La Selva, you are the finance and regulatory analyst for Grimsby Power.  I understand you've held that position since 2014.


MS. La SELVA:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you were with Grimsby Power for another three years as an accounting assistant.


MS. LA SELVA:  That’s correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You are a graduate of the business admin program, with a human resources management co-op component at Niagara College.


MS. La SELVA:  That's correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What was your area of responsibility in the application?


MS. La SELVA:  My area of responsibility was Excel models, preparation of the Excel models, and supporting information in the application exhibits.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Moving on to you, Mr. Picard, I understand that you hold CPA and CA designations.


MR. PICARD:  That is correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that you are a partner with KPMG in Toronto.


MR. PICARD:  That is correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And the power and utilities Leader in KPMG's accounting advisory services practice.


MR. PICARD:  Correct.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  What does accounting advisory services involve?


MR. PICARD:  I provide complex accounting advisory services to utilities across the country, and also I've been advising the EDA, the CEA.  I've also provided training to CAMPUT on accounting and tax issues, and also to the OEB and utilities EDA across the province.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  In the course of that work, have you developed an in-depth knowledge of accounting for the effective rate regulation in the power sector?


MR. PICARD:  According to my time sheets over the past eight years, I think I spend about 85 percent of my time serving this sector in Ontario.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I also see that you are known to the OEB.


MR. PICARD:  I am known to the OEB.  I have been providing two major pieces of work over the past eight years.  The first one relates to an IFRS project that was initiated by the Board in 2008.


And my work included the assessment of the impacts of the IFRS transition on utility rates, also the identification of accounting differences that would arise upon the transition to IFRS, as well as the alternatives open to utilities and the OEB to address those impacts.

That report helped inform the OEB policy on the issue of the transition to IFRS.


As a result of that consultation, I also helped the OEB to revise the Accounting Procedures Handbook following the adoption of IFRS.  That's the first piece of work.


I'm currently involved with a project on pension and OPEP. That project is -- well, that report, sorry, would be used in the formal industry consultation that will take place next week.  I've been working that project for the past year.


The issue here is the possible methods of recovering the cost of pensions and OPEB in the rates, and the related information requirements that may be required as a result of the adoptions of certain policies by the OEB, and also the accounting requirement for these costs in financial statements.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Have you appeared before the Board before as an expert witness in a rate case?


MR. PICARD:  No, I did not appear as an expert witness in a public hearing.  But as I said a little bit earlier, I was involved in policy development for the OEB on two key projects.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Are you familiar with the OEB's requirements with respect to the responsibilities of an expert witness?


MR. PICARD:  Yes, and also I have signed the Board's acknowledgement of an expert duty, and I can say that my report in this matter was prepared by me to the best of my knowledge, acting independently and objectively.


And I would like also to state that we are the not the auditors of GPI, and we do not have any other current engagement with GPI.  And I'd like also to state that KPMG's compensation is not contingent on any action or event resulting from the use of my report.  And I would like finally to confirm that I was not involved with the preparation of the 2016 GPI rates application.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could you describe your retainer, sir?


MR. PICARD:  I've been retained on June 15, 2016, to provide my view on the treatment of GPI's non-capital tax losses carry-forward for rate-setting purposes, specifically whether GPI's shareholder or its customers should receive the future benefit of these tax losses for setting the 2016 distribution rates.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, would you characterize yourself as an expert in regulatory accounting?


MR. PICARD:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And would the matters you are addressing in this proceeding properly be characterized as matters relating to regulatory accounting in your area of expertise?


MR. PICARD:  Yes, they would.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, I would ask the panel to accept Mr. Picard as an expert witness in the area of regulatory accounting.


MS. DUFF:  I just have one question.  I'll canvass our intervenors, but when you say regulatory accounting, is there any, you know, geographic boundaries?  Do you say  Ontario, Canada, the world?  I'm just wondering the experience that you are bringing to the table.


MR. PICARD:  I would start first in Ontario.  I have been quite involved because I am based in Toronto, despite my French.

I have been also helping across Canada, and I am also a member of the IASB consultative group in London, which is the standard setters that is developing a standard under IFRS that will permit to continue to recognize regulatory asset and liability under IFRS.


MS. DUFF:  For the opinions that you've expressed in this report, though, what experience do you rely on and expertise?  Is it Ontario?


MR. PICARD:  Yes, Ontario.  Yes, sorry, sure.


MS. DUFF:  For the other parties in the room, does anybody have any questions for regarding qualifying Mr. Picard as an expert witness in regulatory accounting in Ontario?


Okay, the Board is prepared to accept Mr. Picard as an expert in regulatory accounting in Ontario.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I'm going to begin by directing this question to the Grimsby Power staff members on the panel.


Was the Grimsby Power pre-filed evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, the evidence was prepared under our supervision.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I take it, Mr. Curtiss, you are going to answer for the panel.  That is probably a little more efficient.


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding?


MR. CURTISS:  We do.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sir, does that include the interrogatory responses and updates to your evidence?


MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  Let me address this a little further.  Most of our issues in this proceeding are settled, so there have already been modifications to the revenue requirement and the rates requested in our application as it was originally filed.

However, our request to the Board as it relates to OM&A is as set out in our December 23rd application, as originally submitted.


With respect to PILs and, more particularly to the determination and application of loss carry-forwards, which are the PILs matter that is still outstanding, Grimsby Power's initial position was that $834,468 in loss carry-forwards would be applied for allocation to customers.


That original position has now been modified in two ways, and those modifications are reflected in our evidence update as of June 29th.


As a result of that update, no loss carry-forwards are available for the 2016 test year, and this witness panel will be available to answer questions about our updated PILs evidence.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you adopt Grimsby Power's responses to Board Staff and intervenor interrogatories in this proceeding as your evidence?

MR. CURTISS:  The responses to interrogatories in pre-settlement conference questions were prepared by Grimsby Power staff, and we adopt the responses as our own, but we wish to be clear that not all of the responses reflect Grimsby Power's requests in this application.

For example, we have been asked to perform calculations based on scenarios provided by Staff and intervenors, and those scenarios may have involved changes in Grimsby Power's proposed revenue requirement.  We have performed the calculations and responded to the questions, but we do not agree that those changes are appropriate or that they should be adopted  by the board.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, moving on to the PILs issue itself, Ms. Domokos, you filed an evidence update with the OEB on June 29th, and that update related to Grimsby's PILs calculation.

Could you expense explain the change in your evidence?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, thank you.  In the initial application dated December 23rd, 2015, the 2016 test year PILs calculation was based on the OEB's PILs model.

At that time the loss carry-forward available at December 31st, 2015 included actual loss carry-forward available as of December 31st, 2014 of 712,155 for Grimsby Power and Niagara West Transformation Corporation, plus a forecasted tax losses for the 2015 bridge year of 122,330 on a regulatory basis.

For the test -- 2016 test year the December 31st, 2015 loss carry-forward total of 834,468 was divided by five in order to normalize the loss carry-forward by over five years, and the result was used to reduce the taxable income and the resulting PILs for 2016.

In response to interrogatories, the 2015 bridge year data in various table was update to actual.  This included items such OMA (sic), load forecast, and capital addition and depreciation, and it also included an update to the data in the OEB PILs model.

The outcome of the PILs model, however, does not match Grimsby Power's actual 2015 tax return, as the PILs model was not designed to handle actual data in the bridge year.

Such item as the activity associated with the deferred and various accounts is not included in the PILs model for the bridge year, but it's included in the actual tax return.

At the time Grimsby Power did not believe this to be an issue, since the actual 2015 tax return did not show a negative taxable income and the only actual tax item that impacted the 2016 test year was the actual level of the loss carry-forward amount.

The actual loss carry-forward available at December 31st, 2015 included updated actual loss carry-forward available as of December 31st, 2014 of 765,394 for Grimsby Power and Niagara West Transformation Corporation minus the actual loss carry-forward used in 2015 of 373,573.

For the 2016 test year the December 31st, 2015 actual loss carry-forward total of 391,821 was divided by five in order to normalize loss carry-forward value over five years, and the result was used to reduce taxable income in the resulting periods for 2016.

During the settlement process the model was again updated, but only to reflect the changes in the capital addition in the test year, as agree in the settlement proposal.

The PILs issue remained unsettled, and Grimsby Power sought the advice of KPMG on the issue.  During the discussion with KPMG, Grimsby Power sought advice on the issue regarding the use of actual versus regulatory data in the calculation of the PILs for 2015 bridge year.

KPMG supported the position of using actual calculation of PILs for the 2015 bridge year when all other data was update on an actual basis, along with using the actual loss carry-forward amounts as at December 31st, 2015.

In addition, during that discussion KPMG brought forward a different perspective that had not been previously considered by Grimsby Power involving who should receive the benefit of the loss carry-forward of the formal NWTC.

In KPMG opinion, the shareholder should be the beneficiary of the Niagara West Transformation Corporation loss carry-forward, and not the ratepayer.

After consideration of all the information received regarding PILs and the use of the loss carry-forward, Grimsby Power believes that the PILs model should reflect the use of actual figures from Grimsby Power 2015 tax return.  The loss carry-forward as at December 31st should be on an actual basis, and that the loss carry-forward from NWTC should benefit the shareholder and not the ratepayer.

As a result, Grimsby Power submitted additional evidence on June 29th, 2016 with an updated PILs model reflecting the 2015 actual tax return figures and the elimination of loss carry-forward from former NWTC.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Curtiss, I am just going to ask you one more question before I turn my questions to Mr. Picard.

Were any PILs included in the NWTC rates prior to the consolidation?

MS. DOMOKOS:  There were not included any kind.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Picard, I understand that you've prepared a presentation to assist the Board in understanding your assignment and your opinion.  We've already had those slides marked as an exhibit, and perhaps I could ask you to move on to that now.

I'd suggest that we start with your issues slide, which would be issue 4 -- or, excuse me, slide 4.

MR. PICARD:  Yes, thank you.

So the issues that I've been asked to address, if I start, you know, first, you know, there is a GPI, you know, application before the Board for the setting of distribution rates.

In connection with this rate application there are two tax issues.  The first one is:  Should GPI use the forecast or the actual tax loss carry-forward as at December 31st, 2015 in estimating its tax liabilities in the future for rate-setting purposes?  So that's the first question.

The second one:  Should the tax losses -- should the tax-loss balances held by NWTC prior to its amalgamation with GPI be included in the tax-loss balances used by GPI for estimating its tax liabilities in the future for rate-setting purposes?

And to move to slide 5, just to put the number into context.  So at the beginning of 2015 there was a tax loss carry-forward of $234,000.  And during the -- and I don't know if you are aware, but there was a merger between GPI and NWTC on the 1st of October, so that's why my table has two parts.

So in the first part the GPI tax losses have been used by -- during 2015.  So therefore, at the end of 2015 there are no tax losses carry-forward or available any more to offset the future profit in the rate application.

MS. DUFF:  Excuse me, is there any new information in this document compared to your evidence that you filed?

MR. PICARD:  No.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. PICARD:  The next one, NWTC, so the balance was 684,000 at the beginning of the year.  There was a new tax losses carry-forward that has been added this year.  They lost some tax losses that have expired because there was a ten-year expiry date on it, so that brings us to $530,000, and some tax losses have been used during the second period of the year to offset the profit.  So now we are down to $391,000 for NWTC.

Moving on page 6, so the evaluation of the issue number 1, GPI's initial application for rate effective May 1st, 2016, was filed on this --


MS. DUFF:  Sorry, I have to interrupt.

Mr. Sidlofsky, I think because your mic is on -- it is just the configuration of this room -- we're getting a double pickup.  So are you able to turn yours off while Mr. Picard is talking?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, I’m sorry about that.

MS. DUFF:  You may have to move your computer.  I realize this set-up is not ideal. Please proceed.

MR. PICARD:  Sure.  So I was saying the GPI's initial application for rates effective May 1st, 2016, was filed on December 23rd, 2015.

This application included forecast values for the bridge year, because actual numbers are -- so they use, in fact, the forecast values for the bridge, because the actual numbers for 2015 were not available at that time.  At the request of the intervenors, the application was amended after April 2016 --


MS. DUFF:  He's not going to testify again.  This will be the first and last time.

MR. PICARD:  -- to incorporate actual numbers for 2015 for many items as a result of interrogatories submitted.  The following is a list --


MS. DUFF:  Sorry, there is one thing I should say.  They work in tandem so -- Ms. Silva and Mr. Picard, your microphone phones are together, so.


MR. PICARD:  So again, as a result of the interrogatories, there was a -- there’s a number of matters that have been updated, and I've got the list here.

But just to mention some, the 2015 rate of return was updated, the employee costs were updated, the OM&A costs were updated.  So pretty much all the numbers in the application were updated from the forecast to actual 2015.

So, if we move to the next page.  So as a result of these updates noted above, the revenue requirement for the test year was initially reduced from 6,000,273 to 6,000,272, so just a reduction of just over $1,000.

The revenue requirement was further reduced by the settlement proposal agreement and the recent interrogatories to 6,102,000, so a reduction of $170,000.

The bridge year of 2015 has been -- at the end of all those interrogatories, has been updated to reflect actual versus the forecasted values, which resulted in an increase in the projected income before taxes in that year.

So as a result of using the actual versus the forecast, the tax losses that were available at the end of 2014 have been used.  So there are no longer any tax losses available at the end of 2015.

MS. DUFF:  Related to Grimsby Power?

MR. PICARD:  Related to Grimsby Power, that's correct, or to the old Grimsby Power before the amalgamation and the creation of a new entity.

On page 8, the conclusion under the issue number 1, in my professional opinion, based on the equity and fairness of the principle, I believe it would be unreasonable to update the GPI rate application to reflect actual revenue and expense figures for 2015, but not to similarly update estimates of income tax, income before tax, PILs, and tax loss balances to reflect the impact of the changes made to revenue and expenses at intervenor's request.

I believe to do so would reflect only a partial consideration of relevant parameters.

Moving to the next one, the second issue, I would just like to review the history of the rate applications.  So the first rate application for NWTC was in 2005, and the Board provided the company with an interim rate of 1.50 cents per kilowatt, which was equal to the UTR rate at that time for all the transmitters.

The Board decision noted the rate is authorized on an interim basis pending the Board's final determination of the true cost of service.

So therefore, for that period, there was not a review of the cost of service.

In the 2008 application, the interim rate initially remained in place for three years, a three-year period, until it was renewed for the same figures in a decision and order on February 19, 2008.

With respect to NWTC status, the Board noted in 2004 NWTC was issued a short-term transmitter license due to unresolved issues are issues with respect to rates and the statute of the entity.

These issues remained unresolved.  So therefore, for the period of three years before and the three years after, we still -- the Board have not reviewed whether those costs were true costs of service.

If we move to the next page 10, in 2011, finally  NWTC filed an application with details of its forecast costs of service in November 2010 to determine it's 2011 revenue requirement and the load forecast to set for the first time a just and reasonable rate.

Given its forecast load and expenses, the rate that was approved by the Board of 1.77 ultimately provided for in this proceeding, did not provide for full return on equity.

The Board noted that the application of the requested tariff to the forecasted load produced a revenue of $648,000 per year, and therefore the results in the revenue deficiency and -- sorry, and therefore result in a revenue deficiency of $118,000, which is intended to be furnished by the shareholder through the diminishment of its return on equity.

So now, if we look at the next page as well, at the same time as I'm reading -- but the numbers on the next page, that to help, you know.  But the loss from the operation in 2011 -- so they were forecasting a profit.  They were forecasting a profit for 2011.  The reality is that they have incurred a loss of $12,000.

And the operating loss reflected the confluence of negative factors, such as a reduction in load, an increase in OM&A, but more specifically an increase in interest expense by $110,000 above the deemed interest that has been included in the rate application.

So if we move to page 12, so therefore in KPMG's -- sorry.  In 2011, NWTC applied for a rate that would result in a lower than full rate of return on equity, and the shareholder forecast that it would subsidize customers by accepting a lower rate than those to which it was otherwise entitled.

The 2011 rate application did not allow an allowance for PILs, nor they have never recovered PILs from the beginning, they never asked, and reflecting the expectation that at that time, the income before taxes could be offset by available amounts in the non-capital tax loss carry-forward pool.

So as it turned out, NWTC did not achieve the lower rate of return that it requested.  In fact, it showed and operating loss based on outcomes that were less favourable than forecast.

The operating loss resulted in an increase in the amount outstanding in the tax loss pool, rather than a decrease in a certain amount.

So on page 13 of the evidence, based on a 2011 deemed interest -- so there was a deemed interest that was approved by the Board of $202,000, which is applicable until the next rate rebasing, and we can make the following observation.

The actual interest expenses were higher than the deemed interest of $202,000 in 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015, by the amount that I've mentioned here in this report.

Thus the tax loss incurred in 2011, 2012, 2014 and 2015 can be almost attributed to the differences between the actual and the deemed interest.  So what I'm saying here is the actual -- the actual interest above the deemed interest has caused more or less the loss than they have incurred. It is always higher than the loss incurred.

So that's for the period from 2011 to 2015.  I could also make the same analogy for the period before that, but there was no deemed interest approved, and I've got also some additional comments.

Of the total balance of tax loss available at the end of September 2015, there is 265,000 that were attributable to the years prior to 2011.

For the period prior to 2011, the rate in effect were not based on NWTC forecast cost of service.  There was not a rate that was approved to be just and reasonable, and therefore did not include -- and also did not include any allowances for PILs specific to the NWTC circumstance.

So on page 14 I am showing what the losses -- the first series of numbers is related to the accounting loss of the NWTC, so they have incurred almost of losses in 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2010, '11, '14, and '15, so those losses have never been, you know, incorporated, you know, in the rates.  And as I said earlier, those losses can be attributed to the difference between the actual interest and the deemed interest.

On page 15, now, there are -- I've been looking at the -- in addition to what I've done, I've been looking at what -- the decision that have been rendered by the Board in the past, and I found two specific decisions that were issued.  I believe they were quite unique.  One was for OPG and one was for Great Lakes Power Limited.

And if I talk about the Great Lakes Power Limited, so the Board decided -- so the Board decided that the tax-loss balances should not be taken into account, given that the fact -- given the fact that recovery from customers of the operating losses that led to these tax-loss balances was not allowed, so the Board did not allow to recover certain costs, so therefore they said, you know, the tax losses should belong to those costs, so the benefit followed the costs.

In making its determination the Board considered but rejected the argument that specific wording in the 2006 Distribution Rate Handbook should guide its decision in this particular case relating to Great Lakes.

The Board noted that, based on the decision accompanying the 2006 DHR handbook, the rate treatment proposed in the 2006 handbook reflects certain specific circumstances.

Specially, the 2006 rate handbook proposed a particular treatment that losses benefit customers because the origin of losses giving rise to the tax-loss balances was generally not then known for the utilities in question.  Because the origin of losses in the case of GLPL was in contrast known and because these losses arose as a result of expenses ultimately borne by GLPL shareholder, the Board in that proceeding determined that the tax-loss balances should be for the benefit of the shareholder.

The circumstances associated with the current proceeding in respect of GPR, I believe, are similar.  We have exceptional costs or costs that have been incurred that have not been allowed to be included in the rate, that have been borne by the shareholder, so the tax balances now within GPI arose because of those losses.  Accordingly, the benefit of such tax losses should, I believe, accrue to the customer.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, Mr. Picard.  Did you just say that the benefit of the tax-loss balances should accrue to the customer or the shareholder --


MR. PICARD:  Oh, sorry.  The shareholder.  Sorry.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm just following along with your presentation.

MR. PICARD:  Sorry, shareholder.  Sorry.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, and your -- you've completed your presentation.  Did you have any comments on the OPG case?

MR. PICARD:  The OPG case, I believe, was a different issue, was again -- well, there was two issues.  There was a case where it was accepted, but there was also a case where it was denied, and the reason where -- the reason why it was denied is that there was -- some of the arguments is that they were first PILs that were incurred and were charged to the rate in the year that -- in 2013, where they have incurred a loss, and they were arguing that the tax losses should belong to the shareholder, and the Staff were arguing that, no, no, the PILs were incurred by the customers, so therefore the tax losses should come back to the customers, not to the shareholder.

So as a result the Board has denied, you know, the request of OPG, and -- yeah.  So to me, it's a unique -- it's a different -- I think our fact pattern is different here, is that we have not incurred PILs.  We have different costs.  You have deemed interest -- the actual interest, which are higher than the deemed interest, and I believe because those interests  are not included in the PILs calculation model since 2010, I believe that since we are not reducing the PILs, I believe that the benefit should also be for the benefit of the shareholder.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you, sir.

Madam Chair, those are my questions for the panel.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Aiken, are you ready to proceed?

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, good morning, panel.

I do have a compendium that we should have marked.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is Energy Probe Research Foundation's cross-examination compendium.  That will be Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE RESEARCH FOUNDATION'S CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we have extra copies, Mr. Aiken, for the panel?

MR. AIKEN:  I do.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  I'm ready to try my hardest not to put anybody to sleep as I talk about PILs for the next little bit.  I probably won't be successful, so I might have to ring a bell or something.

MS. DUFF:  I'm keen.

MR. AIKEN:  So my first question on PILs -- and this is before I get to the loss carry-forward and the Niagara West issues.  I want to make sure that I understand the PILs work form filed in the response to Undertaking JT1.5, which is on page 7 of my compendium.  And you will see the page numbers are in red at the top.

This was in response to a question at the technical conference about which CCA class the $1.2 million expenditures on the Niagara West transmission station should be included in, and based on your response I take it you're proposing that it be removed from CCA class 1 and put into CCA class 47; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And then just to confirm the impact of that, which is not shown in the CCA schedule but is shown in the PILs work form you filed, is that the CCA deduction in the test year goes from about 1.78 million total to 1.854 million, and the resulting PILs to be included in the revenue requirement drops from about 92,000 to 65,000.

Would you take those numbers subject to check?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Based on the amendment in the model that I submitted on July the 8th for the technical conference, it is a column where it's amended the UCC calculation for 2015 in the T1 taxable income update.  So it is missing from this spreadsheet that it's showing on page 7, the next three columns.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that, and my question is:  Would you take, subject to check, the numbers I provided you, that the ultimate PILs that you are now requesting recovering the revenue requirement is $65,351?

MS. DOMOKOS:  We can do that.

MR. AIKEN:  Now turning to the generic issue of the calculation of the loss carry-forward, can I have you return to the response to undertaking JT1.6, which is on pages 8 and 9 of the compendium?  And I've added the colourful highlights to this response, especially on page 9.


First looking at table 4, which is on page 8, this highlights the difference in actual and regulatory PILs for 2015.  Do you agree with that statement?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is the updated difference between the 2015 tax return and the regulatory model.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  And at the bottom of the table, this shows -- let me back up.  Right at the first line of table 4, the accounting net income before taxes, there is a difference shown of $216,000 and change.


And then at the bottom of the table, you go through the calculation that comes up with that $216,000 difference, and it is basically that you have an increase in revenue of $85,000, deferred revenues, and a reduction in expenses of 130,000.  Is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.  The bottom line is 216,365.


MR. AIKEN:  Right.  And I've highlighted there in yellow that the deferred revenue increase is exactly offset by the increase in the depreciation expense; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  So then to simplify this, the increase of 216,000 in net income before taxes is a result of using actual interest expense in place of a deemed interest expense, the inclusion of other donations, and the reduction for the gain on the change in the fair market value of an interest rate swap; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Then if we go over to page 5 -- sorry, table 5 on the next page, the top of the table which ends about halfway down the page, net income for tax purposes for the settlement PILs model the loss of 318,022, that's what comes out of the PILs model, correct, on an actual basis?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, would you please repeat?  I didn't follow.  Sorry.


MR. AIKEN:  Sure.  The first half of the table –


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  If you go down to the net income for tax purposes, per settlement PILs model, the loss of  318,000.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  That's what comes out of the PILs model?


MS. DOMOKOS:  The regulated PILs model, that's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And the last half are the adjustments that you've made that match your actual tax filing?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Just to be clear, I've added that the 589,098 that's in the red, because that matches what your taxable income on an actual, correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is the taxable income before we applied the loss carry-forward.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.  So the total adjustments that you've made to regulatory income is $907,000.


And I want to go through and look at the different sources of that change, and those are the numbers that I've highlighted in the various colours.


So starting with the yellow highlights, this is the same 216,365 that we just talked about.


It is broken down a little bit differently than in table 4, but it's because your accounting net income is different and you're putting in the provision for current and deferred income taxes; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  So the account income is the difference, so I'm starting to show additional, but the starting point is the difference between the PILs model and the 2015 actual.  So that is my starting point.


MR. AIKEN:  Right, you've got the two asterisks there beside lines 101 and 102, and at the bottom you say that they are not included in the settlement PILs model.


 And it's true, isn't it, that lines 101 and 102 don't even show up in the PILs model.  It’s just that they don’t -- you’ve put zeros in there.  Those line items do not appear in the regulatory PILs model.


MS. DOMOKOS:  If I'm thinking more, it's about the net income and gross income.  So if it you if you want to add 316 to the 39, you will have the gross, right?


MR. AIKEN:  My question is lines 101 and 102, provisions for current and deferred income taxes, those line items do not show up in the PILs model.


MS. DOMOKOS:  They don't show up.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that's the yellow changes.  Then the orange changes, that's at lines 126 and 414, these are changes due to the reserves, and the net impact I've shown there is an increase of about $73,000 to taxable income.


Now, as I understand it, these figures are included in the calculation of PILs for regulatory purposes.  And what you've done here is simply an update to the figures shown in lines 126 and 414 in the settlement PILs model, which were $6,500 each.  Is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So what is driving that change?


MS. DOMOKOS:  As I in mentioned in the technical conference, when you are doing the tax return, the idea it is the reserve, they don't create any income.  So from our auditor point of view, it is you have to equalize what is the addition with what is the deduction when it's about the reserve.


So in the PILs model, you have a difference between addition and deduction when it's about the reserve.


When it's about the tax return, they have to be equal.  So what you add has to be equal with what you deduct, because my understanding is you cannot have -- you cannot create income or losses based on the reserve changes.


MR. AIKEN:  I guess that's basically my question, because in what was filed in the PILs model in the settlement agreement, line 126 was $6,500 -- and you can actually see that at the top, line 126, reserves at the end of the year was 6,500, and then you go down to line 414, reserves at the beginning of the year were 6,500.  So they offset one another; the addition and deductions are the same.


MS. DOMOKOS:  If you add together the line 100 and -- one second, 125 plus the line 126 in my tax return, the summary of these two lines are with the summary of the 413 plus 414.


So you have, in the regulatory model, a difference if you add together.  But in my tax return, the summary of the addition of 125 plus 126, it is equal with 413 plus 414.


And the reason I updated it is the way that it's calculating the scheduled reserve to the $6,500, it is adding the amount of -- just a second, I have to think.


 So to get the amount of 746, it is adding the -- sorry, I have to check.  I don't have in front of me right now.

MR. AIKEN:  Maybe I can approach this --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- from a different way, and we might need an undertaking response, but if you look at the top half of the table, you mentioned line 125, so I see the 672,897, and then line 413, I see the 746,346, so there is an addition of 672,000, a deduction of 746,000.

Then when I come down to the bottom half and I go to lines 126 and 414, I see those same numbers, but now they're actually reversed.  There is now an addition of 746,000 and a deduction of 672,000.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So more or less the way that our auditors did this schedule, it was you reverse the beginning of the balance and you add the addition, but the whole idea, it is the line 125 plus 126 should be equal with 413 plus 414, so that was the way that the tax return was filed.

MR. AIKEN:  So then essentially what you are saying is that the PILs work form that was part of the settlement agreement was an error, and what you've done is corrected that here.

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving on to the green shaded area in the bottom half -- this is line 403 -- here you've added $66,500 as a further deduction.  And this is due to the change in the treatment of the CCA for the aid-to-construct associated with the Niagara West station; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  This is related with the contribute capital.  So in the CCA schedule, when we are doing the tax return, the contribute capital depreciation, it's not deducted, and it is showing in the net income as a deferred revenue, and it is a difference between the way this contribute capital is treated in the regulatory model and the way that it's treated in the tax return, corporate tax return.

So in the corporate tax return the amount that belongs to the contribute capital depreciation came as a deferred revenue, and it is part of my accounting net income.

In the regulatory model it is a deduction, if it's any addition of the contribute capital from the fixed assets, and under UCCA calculation it is a deduction from the total CCA cost, if you want.

MR. AIKEN:  So that goes back to the response to JT1.5 on page 7; right?  This refers to -- this is related to the 1.2 million that's added to the CCA schedule.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So that deduction on page 7, it is -- I am moving from class 1 to class 47.  It is the only thing I am doing.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, but what I'm saying is that $66,000 additional deduction is based on this 1.2 million.  It is based on that expenditure.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Not only.

MR. AIKEN:  What else is it based on?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So we have, on the end, if I recall from my memory, at the end of 2014, we have in the contribute capital two-million-300-something.  That 2,300,000, when I am doing the 2015 I will calculate the depreciation, and it will be in my books as revenue.  The depreciation for that contribute capital will go in the revenue, and that revenue will be part my net income.

When I'm going to the regulatory model, the 2-million-300 calculation of the CCA will be a deduction from my CCA in the regulatory model, so they are treated different.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So it is for all your contributions, not just the contribution for --


MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  -- Niagara West.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  That is correct.  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, now is there a link between that 2 million and the 85,000 in deferred revenue and the increase in the depreciation expense in the same amount?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So when we are doing the rate application and we are coming and we are saying for 2015 this is my net income, that net income we already reduce the depreciation with the contribute capital depreciation, so let's say it is my depreciation $500,000, the expense for that fiscal year, and the depreciation for contribute capital, it's 100.

In my application will show up a depreciation expense of $400,000.  In my real life, that $100,000 will go to my revenue and will be part of my net income.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then moving on to the pink lines, 604 and 700, where the net is zero, again, 604 and 700 are not included in the PILs model; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So that pink belongs to the smart meters.  They were on some point regulatory accounts, and they were moved to the fixed assets.  For tax purpose you have to recognize it's a fixed assets, even they stay for a while in our regulatory accounts, and it is why it's 399,728 add and deduct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then finally we move to the blue lines, so lines 600 and 702, and this results in a net increase in taxable income of about $684,000.  These are labelled as opening and closing regulatory asset balances.

Are these figures of balances and deferral and variance accounts?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is the summary of my regulatory accounts at the beginning of 2015 and the end of 2015.

MR. AIKEN:  Is there anything else included in those figures?

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, it is only the deferred regulatory accounts.

MR. AIKEN:  And again, based on your note at the bottom of the table, the double asterisk, these line items are not included in the PILs model; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  With double asterisks, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  Okay, so obviously the issue here is that you believe that the loss carry-forwards should be based on actual PILs or PILs calculated on a regulatory basis; right?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Would you please repeat the question?  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Sure, I think I may have mangled it anyways.

Your belief is that the loss carry-forward should be based on actual PILs.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I would like to make a parallel, and I will say the starting point in all PILs calculation for the historical year, it is what it's available, loss carry-forward, and the end of 2014, the actual, which may include in the previous year, regulatory accounts may include any other changes that are not part of the regulatory model, and I believe because the 2015 tax return, it's available, we supposed to use what it's left on the end of 2015 loss carry-forward.  Even that -- that calculation have included some regulatory accounts.

So in my view, it is, if we want to use only strictly the regulatory model, then we have to go back to 2012, when it was the last rate application, and run the model each year in the regulatory environment and don't mix what it's in the real life in the tax return with what it's in the regulatory model.  It is what I believe.

MR. AIKEN:  And Mr. Picard, you indicated that you believed that the actual PILs should be used rather than forecast.  My question is:  Should it be actual PILs or actual regulatory PILs?

MR. PICARD:  Actual PILs for the tax return --


MS. DUFF:  I really like -- sorry, just, I do like that qualifier, so we are talking about the two, just so that I can follow it.

So there is the actual PILs for the tax return and then the actual -- well, PILs per the regulatory model, so if we could try to just keep the terminology the same I'd appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  So why do you believe that the tax return actuals should be used rather than the actuals calculated with a regulatory PILs model?

MR. PICARD:  I think the EDR handbook in 2006 when it was initiated they were saying, you know, when you do your rate application for 2006, you have to use whatever tax losses were available the year before in 2005.  So that's been the numbers that have been used in all rate applications, the actual per the tax return.

MR. AIKEN:  Are you aware of there being anything in the filing guidelines that would give any guidance?

MR. PICARD:  I'm not aware of any detailed guidance, or any guidance in that respect, other than the EDR handbook in 2006 that says that you have to use the 2005 actual for the actual tax return.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, as part of the triple-R filings, there is a calculation of the return on equity to see if, on an actual basis, it is within plus or minus 300 basis points of that included in the revenue requirement.

Is that correct?  That's something you do each year?

MR. THOMPSON:  So either we are starting with actual net income, and we have all sorts of adjustments to arrive at the regulatory return on equity, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Is the change in the balance in the deferral and variance accounts included in that calculation, or is that removed?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Based on the new model that came this fiscal -- this -- after 2016, they are removed.

MR. AIKEN:  In the materials that I requested be filed as exhibit KT 1.3, there is a schedule that shows a loss carry-forward from NWTC into Grimsby Power.

And that shows the use of about $139,000 in loss carry-forwards being used in 2015; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  The 139,000 were used in the three months of the merged company, so it's from October of that fiscal year, because in 2015, we have two fiscal years.

So in the second fiscal year when we have the merged company, yes, we used that amount.

MR. AIKEN:  If you could turn to pages 10 and 11 of my compendium -- actually, I guess it’s pages 11 and 12 -- and as I had mentioned, in the response to undertaking JT1.3, you filed the 2015 tax returns.

And what you see on pages 11 and 12 are the non-capital loss carry-forward amounts for the period up to the end of September 30, 2015, and on the information provided on page 11 matches that response.

But when I look at the actual tax filings, page 12 is included in the tax filings, and that shows the loss in 2015 of about $206,000.

And in your filing -- sorry, in your PILs filing, this goes back to page 10, you will see on the 2006 line that you used the 138,646 to reduce the 2015 income -- and, as you say, for the last three months.

My question is:  Why didn't you use the 2005 losses first, because they expire at the end of 2015?

MS. DOMOKOS:  As soon as you have a fiscal year that are gone -- we are supposed to use as of September 30th, NWTC.  It's supposed to use that 206,000 because it's a deemed year end that is considered like a fiscal year.

I understand the way that you are looking, you are looking at the calendar year.  But that is the rule that I understand from my auditors.  As soon as you have the deemed year end, that are gone for 2015.  So you can not use for the last three months the 206,000.  They are not available anymore.

MR. AIKEN:  Is that's correct, Mr. Picard?  Are you aware of that?

MR. PICARD:  I am not aware of that.

MS. DUFF:  Could you please repeat that one more time for me, your answer regarding the fiscal year end and what your understanding is?

Sorry.  Do you mind, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  No, go ahead.

MS. DOMOKOS:  In 2015, we have a year end for Grimsby Power, the former Grimsby Power, and a year end for NWTC as of September 30.

And then, starting October the 1st to December 31st, we have the second fiscal year in one calendar year.

And because that fiscal year for NWTC ended on September 30th, they are losing what is available for 2015, so I can use what is after that year.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Please proceed.

MR. AIKEN:  And was that -- you mentioned that was your auditors or -- was it auditors or tax expert?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Our auditors; they are go doing the tax return.

MR. AIKEN:  And who are your auditors?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry?

MR. AIKEN:  Who are your auditors?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Millards.

MR. AIKEN:  In the response to undertaking JT1.1, which is on page 9 of the compendium, I want to read the second paragraph.  It says:
“NWTC's intention in that proceeding,” and this refers back to the 2011 NWTC rate application, the intention in that proceeding, “was to obtain approval of a transmission rate equal to the uniform transmission rate.  As NWTC indicated in its application, PILs were not included in the proposed rate.  In order to maintain the $1.77 transformation rate as set out in the UTR tariff, NWTC proposed to reduce its ROE to 7% and the OEB approved that approach."

Based on that statement, would you confirm that there would be PILs based on a return on equity of 7 percent, and that the PILs were set to zero because of loss carry-forwards being used?

In other words, there would have been a forecast of PILs based on the positive return and equity, but it was not built into the revenue requirement because of the loss carry-forwards?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, I was not part of the rate application of NWTC, so I cannot qualify what you say.  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, just take it then as a generic question.  If you have a return of equity of 7 percent, there will be PILs associated with that, correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I don't know the revenue requirements.  I don't know all the information regarding, that so I --


MR. AIKEN:  Mr. Picard, you were nodding in the affirmative.  Would you agree with --


MR. PICARD:  I would think, if you are talking about the forecast generically, if you have a forecast and you have a forecast of a profit before tax, I believe that if a profit before tax, you should have a PILs to be included.  But I don't know the specifics, you know, for NWTC.

But on a generic basis, yes, you would have PILs, but the PILs were not included in the rates.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  In undertaking JT1.3, I asked for the tax filings for NWTC because it was not clear if the tax losses claimed by NWTC were created or increased through the use of a capital cost allowance.

And when I started looking through the reams of paper that I have here, with tax forms from 2005 through 2015, I've condensed this down to two pages in my compendium -- it’s is pages 20 and 21, and this happens to be for the 2014 filing year.

And when you look at, on page 21, this is the capital cost allowance, the total capital cost allowance available for that year is 189,700, and that's the second last column.

And then when I go back to page 20, which is Schedule 1 from the tax filing that shows the net income or loss for income-tax purposes, I see that -- the various additions and subtractions, and the result is a loss of $26,690, which matches your other evidence.  But that loss has been increased because of the full use in line 403 of the capital cost allowance.

So first of all, is that -- first of all, does the Canada Revenue Agency allow a business to create or to enhance a loss through using capital cost allowance?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  They do?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. PICARD:  And I think it is a requirement from the OEB to maximize the CCA in the tax filing.

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct, but doesn't this indicate that the tax-loss carry-forward has been maximized at the expense of CCA deductions for ratepayers going forward?  In other words, if the reductions -- sorry, if the maximum CCA had not been used and your taxable income was zero in all those years where you are reporting a loss or where NWTC reported a loss, then your UCC at the end of each year would be higher, and therefore the CCA left in the test year for the Niagara West station would be higher.  And that benefit would accrue, the higher capital cost allowance that would result, that would accrue to ratepayers.

MR. PICARD:  I would like to -- there is something that Ms. Mioara has explained a bit earlier that is not reflected in your analysis, is the capital contribution.

So for tax purposes, capital contribution is not netted against the PP&E.  For regulatory purposes, the capital contribution is netted.  We are reducing the rate base, because we don't want to give a return on the capital contribution where you have not paid for that asset.

So I believe on the analysis, when you are reflecting whether there is a plus and minus, you should also reflect the amortization of that capital contribution which is sitting as a deferred revenue on the balance sheet, so you need to net that off to obtain, you know, what is -- when you want to compare those numbers, and I don't have that number handy.

MR. AIKEN:  But --


MR. PICARD:  So therefore there would be a difference.

MR. AIKEN:  On the simple basis, if you take 2014 as an example, $26,690 of CCA was used that didn't need to be used to reduce the taxable income or so that no PILs would be paid.

So that means the CCA or the UCC at the end of 2014 could have been $27,000 higher than what actually was carried forward into 2015.

MR. PICARD:  Yes, but I believe here the -- Grimsby is following the requirement of the OEB by maximizing the CCA reduction.  That's a requirement, so we cannot go against the requirement.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that, but what I'm getting at is that that transfers the benefit -- if you are right and the benefit should go to the shareholder, that transfers the benefit to the shareholder from the ratepayer, because the CCA is lower --


MS. FRANK:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken --


MR. AIKEN:  -- going forward.

MS. FRANK:  -- can I just -- the scenario that you are proposing, are you suggesting that the policy that's in place and the directions from the Board are somehow not appropriately reflecting the customer's interests?  Are you suggesting a deviation from policy?  I'm unclear as to what your scenario is doing.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm suggesting that if the Niagara West Transformation Corporation tax loss -- tax losses accrue to the ratepayer, that then the policy doesn't matter, because if --


MS. FRANK:  No, but if there is a direction, Mr. Aiken, where --


MR. AIKEN:  -- instead of getting the benefit through the CCA they are getting the benefit through the tax-loss carry-forward.  However, if the tax-loss carry-forward is to the benefit of the shareholder, then, yes, there is a problem with the policy, because it's transferring that benefit from ratepayers to the shareholder.

MS. FRANK:  But the suggestion you're making right now that they change the amount of capital cost allowance from what's allowed, that that suggestion would be outside policy, would you agree with that?

MR. AIKEN:  Well, I'm not suggesting that change should be made.

MS. FRANK:  Oh, okay.

MR. AIKEN:  What I'm suggesting is that there is an impact on ratepayers.  If --


MS. FRANK:  So your scenario was not something you are proposing they do.  You are just saying hypothetically, but the treatment they've done is appropriate.  That's where you've ended up; right?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you.

MS. DOMOKOS:  May I say something, please?

MS. DUFF:  Please, please proceed.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Mathematical, I'm thinking right now, so let's say we reduce in 2014, let's assume it happened in the tax return of NWTC, we reduced the amount that it's for the -- in the Schedule 8, and we have on that point no loss carry-forward.  Sooner or later you will do the calculation and it will be a deduction later on, so it's not coming like a loss carry-forward, but in the years that are coming after 2014 you will continue to calculate CCA each year, and that will be a deduction.

So you don't have on the form of the loss carry-forward, but you will have on the form as a CCA calculation for the fixed assets that belongs to the NWTC.

So I believe the impact, it's the same, right?  Because you have to come to the end for that fixed assets, so if the fixed assets it's 1 million and you have 4 percent to do the calculation, in 25 years that 1 million will be in your Schedule 8, right?  4 percent is 5 years.

So the impact that you have right now as a loss carry-forward, they will come later on as a cost; right?

MR. AIKEN:  You should never ask an intervenor to comment.  So I'll wait until argument.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I'm looking on your point of view, and I'm thinking perspective, how it works, what you are saying.  Even you reducing 2014, let's say the -- who did the tax return, because I didn't -- I was not in charge with NWTC.  They will decide, instead of 189, to put 100,000.  That 89 will stay there, and in the years that are coming, they will be deducted anyway.

MR. AIKEN:  I think what you are saying is that over the life of the asset --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- whether it is a loss carry-forward or CCA --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- that the net impact is the same, the dollars are the same.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The ratepayers, yes --


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.

MS. DOMOKOS:  -- it is what I am trying to demonstrate, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now I'm getting into the complicated part.

If you could turn to the response to Undertaking JT1.8, which is on page 13 of the compendium.  It looks like a nice short response.  Unfortunately there are three different PILs models that go with this.

In this undertaking I asked you for three scenarios that are in addition to your proposal and to show the results of the four possible outcomes, and we talked about those four possible outcomes at the technical conference, and I just wanted to remind everybody what those four potential outcomes are.

The first one is at -- as you have proposed in your updated evidence, that the NWTC loss carry-forward is not used in the calculation and that deferral and variance accounts are used.  That's your proposal; correct?

Your proposal is to not use the loss carry-forward --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- from NWTC but to include -- or not "but", but, and to include the difference in the deferral and variance accounts opening and closing balances.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The second part I propose to match my actual 2015 tax return.  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.  Then the second scenario is NWTC is in the calculation; in other words, the loss carry-forward goes to ratepayers, and the deferral and variance accounts remain in as you have proposed.

The third scenario is NWTC is in the calculation, the loss carry-forwards go to ratepayers, and deferral and variance accounts are excluded from the calculation.

And then the fourth outcome or the fourth scenario is NWTC is out of the calculation as you’ve proposed, but deferral and variance accounts are excluded.

So, when you look at the response in table 6 on page 14 -- I guess you actually go over to page 15, and I'm looking down about ten lines from the bottom,  net income for tax purposes.

In the first two scenarios, the taxable income -- or the net income rather, is 58,098 under both of those scenarios.  And under the third and fourth scenarios, there is a loss of $94,758, correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the driving factor between these two sets of numbers is whether the deferral and variance accounts are in or out?

MS. DOMOKOS:  They have most of the influence on changing the net income, that is correct, too.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay.

Can you explain why the non-capital loss is shown as a reduction at lines 331 on that page near the bottom are different in the first and fourth scenarios as compared to the other two?

MS. DOMOKOS:  It is because we are taking out the loss carry-forward that belongs to NWTC.  So 234,927 is the loss carry-forward that was available at the end of 2014, and that one was used as of September 30, 2015, in the first fiscal year of Grimsby Power, former Grimsby Power.

MR. AIKEN:  But on an actual basis and I -- strike the word actual.

On your proposal, which is the first column that's labelled "Additional evidence, NWTC out, reg account in", haven't you used a deduction of 373,573 in your proposal?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Would you please repeat?  I didn’t catch the question? .

MR. AIKEN:  In the column labelled "Additional evidence NWTC” -- this is your proposal?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Didn't you use the non-capital losses of 373,573?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So you are asking me what we filed with the new evidence, the model?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. DOMOKOS:  It is what we filed.

MR. AIKEN:  I am just trying to find it here.  Okay, okay, I understand that now.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Aiken, just to make sure the proper context about these table 6, this is all 2016?

MR. AIKEN:  No, table 6 is 2015.

MS. DOMOKOS:  2015, so all the scenario belongs to 2015.

MR. AIKEN:  It is because this affects the potential carry-forwards into the test year.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I understand for regulatory purposes, you've used the deduction of 234,927.  But for your actual tax filing for 2015, you used the higher deduction.

MS. DOMOKOS:  My actual tax return, yes, it is the 373,573.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  In the last two columns, and I'm still on page 15, the last two columns with the regulatory accounts out, it shows a continued use of a loss carry-forward, even though under both of these scenarios, Grimsby is already in a loss position.  Can you explain to me why that is?

MS. DOMOKOS:  We followed the regulatory model, in which it is indicated even if you have a loss at the end of 2015, you have, in our view, to put what has happened.  We have 373, we apply in 2005; so they are not available anymore.

So, the regulatory model is showing a loss, but the reality, in my real life, I have a gain of 589.  So I used the loss carry-forward, so they are not available.  Otherwise, how can I show in the regulatory model that the loss carry-forward they are not available any more.

The whole amount, if I would not apply, then will create the impression that it's still available, that 373,573, which it's not true.  They are not available anymore.

MR. AIKEN:  But if your net income is negative, do you agree that you do not need to lose -- use a loss carry-forward?

MS. DOMOKOS:  If I have on the end of 2015 a loss, I agree that in my tax return, the loss carry-forward should not be applied.

But I have a gain, so the loss carry-forward were applied and they are not available anymore.

MR. AIKEN:  Let me phrase it this way.  If the Board said that your PILs for regulatory purposes for the 2015 bridge year should not include regulatory accounts in the calculation, and you have a loss of $95,000, would you agree that there's no need to apply any loss carry-forward to the 2015 numbers?

In fact, you would be adding to loss carry-forwards available for the test year.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Then we have to go back and discuss what happened between 2012 and 2015, because on some point I have in the previous year again, based on the regulatory and the way that they were changed, and that gain, let's say it was in 2012 and 2013, because I can tell you we applied the loss carry-forward of 2014, 900 and something thousand, we applied to the gain that we have in '12 and '13.


So the regulatory are moving up and down and you can have one year a gain and another year a loss, so you cannot isolate 2015 and say, oh, you have this amount, you are not allowed right now, based on the regulatory model, to use that loss carry-forward.  Because if you are looking on my tax return 2012 and 2013, I have a gain and I was in the position in 2014 to apply -- carry back my losses that I have in the end of '14.

So it is a change in this regulatory account and that is my point.  When you are taking -- if it happened on the year when you have the rate application to have all these loss carry-forward, you are in a disadvantage.  But if it happened you to be on the gain, you are in an advantage.  So it is not a fair treatment, in my view.

MR. AIKEN:  Isn't that exactly the reason why the Board in the PILs model does not include changes in these accounts in the test year?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I agree --


MR. AIKEN:  It's a timing issue.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I agree with you.  But the starting point was 2014, my actual loss carry-forward.  It was not my regulatory loss carry-forward.

MR. AIKEN:  Basically what you are saying, I think, is that you are applying the losses because even though it shows a loss of net income, that's what comes out of the PILs model.  You've taken these numbers right out of the PILs model?

MS. DOMOKOS:  The loss carry-forward are coming from the regulatory accounts from a previous year.  When, in the previous year, if you eliminate, then you will not have on the beginning of 2015 any loss carry-forward in Grimsby Power’s case.  So if we eliminate that, well, even the 234,927 will not be there.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to come back to the model in a minute, but am I correct that the net income for tax purposes would be lower by $216,000 if the accounting net income and provisions for current and deferred income taxes were removed in the calculation of the PILs for regulatory purposes?

In other words, if you go back to page 14, the very top of Table 6, line A, "net income before taxes", if that $412,000 was reduced by the 216,000, the net result in columns 3 and 4 is you are going to have a loss of about $310,000, something in that neighbourhood.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So what was your question?  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  If the Board were to determine that the deferred and future income taxes and the change, for example, between actual and deemed interest should not be included in the calculation, then your net income at line A, instead of being 412,000, would be that amount less 216,000.  Everything else would stay the same, except when you got down to net income for tax purposes.  Instead of a loss of 94,000, you'd have a loss of about 310,000 in columns 3 and 4.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So we have a difference in accounting net income before taxes of 216,365.  It is what you are talking about, 216,000?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So if we will apply the difference, we will arrive with what we put in the PILs model for the settlement proposal.  We will arrive to 195,848.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, okay, thank you.

Now, going back to the model -- and this is where it gets tricky, Martha.

MS. McOUAT:  Remember the rule.

MR. AIKEN:  When I look at your PILs model filed with the undertaking responses -- and this is with NWTC in and deferral and variance accounts out -- and I'm looking at the tab B1 update, adjusted tax income bridge.

Yeah, that's it, right there.  And you see the last figure right at the bottom of 373,927, and that's applied on top of the loss of 94,758, which is what's reported on page 15.

And so this loss, when you look at the formula for the 373, you will see a pop-up there.  It is linked back to the B4, Schedule 4 loss carry-forward, bridge tab, which is the tab right before.  Yeah, before.  Right there.

And my question is very specific.  Why did you change the formula in the Board PILs model in cells G14 and G16?  If you look at the formula in G14 there is no formula.  Similarly, in G16 it is just a number.  It is the number 373,573.  There are no formulae in either of those.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The amount that was used in the bridge year was 373, so it is why I put on the line 16 that amount, because it's the amount that was used in my tax return, in 2015, in the two tax returns.

MR. AIKEN:  And to do that you had to remove the formulas that were in the Board's model; correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I don't recall when I did this, if I removed.  Probably, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so if we pull up your original PILs filing.  And this is Grimsby test-year income PILs work form, draft, 2015-12-23.  And again, go to the B4, Schedule 4 loss carry-forward, bridge tab.  Yeah.

So there you will see formulas in both lines 14 and 16 in column G that calculate for you either the amount added to the loss carry-forward or the amount deducted and be used in the bridge year, and both of those revolve around the net income on the previous tab, which is a B1 adjusted taxable income bridge year, cell F107.

So my question is:  Why did you remove that when the bridge-year numbers in the Board's model are already calculated for you?

MS. DOMOKOS:  If I will do the chronology, I will say first time when I removed the formula was when we put the additional evidence, and that was because we would like to show what it is my tax return in 2015, the actual, and I have to do that in order to -- and it is why I insert some tabs, and I put clear this is updated with other words.  It doesn't follow exactly the way that the regulatory model have been done.  It's following my taxable tax return, the corporation tax return, the way that that were done, and it was the only way I could do that.

MR. AIKEN:  So this is part of you essentially converting the PILs regulatory model to match your actual PILs filing.

MS. DOMOKOS:  That was for the additional evidence, and then we have the technical conference, and in the technical conference my understanding was, use what you file with additional evidence, and use that to do the three scenarios that you have to show us.

So in my mind was I'm going to use exactly the way that it was done, the regulatory model for additional evidence which followed my tax return, but I will do the changes with the NWTC regulatory accounts in and out, the three scenarios, so it is why -- I understand what you are saying.  If you have a loss, it doesn't supposed to have any usage of the loss carry-forward.  I understand that.  But the starting point was the model that I use in additional evidence to show you the three scenario that you ask for.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and I guess I wasn't clear on the question.  My question is -- or my comment is you've made a number of changes to the PILs model to match your PILs -- actual PILs filing for 2015.  That includes the removal of a couple of formulas and the addition of regulatory account balances, opening and closing balances, and a number of other items that more or less offset one another.  That's correct.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The only --


MR. AIKEN:  That comes up with the 907,000 --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- and the $373,000 loss carry-forward.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The only reason why I did these was to show how my tax return was done.  Otherwise I will not be able to show at all based on the regulatory model how my 2015 was done in the actual tax return.

It was the only way.  I didn't have a choice.  To show inside of the model I have to do some adjustments to follow exactly my tax return, and that was the only reason I did that.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, you were -- as I say, you converted the PILs regulatory model to reflect actuals.  You made the changes necessary to do that.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.   Nobody fell asleep, and those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Very punctual, Mr. Aiken.  Well, given that, we are right on schedule.   I was going to suggest that we take a break for fifteen minutes.  And then when we return, Mr. Rubenstein, are you prepared to proceed?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 11:25 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:44 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, panel.

Mr. Aiken has carefully gone through the issue and many of the questions I had, and I just have a few small areas I want to discuss.

Mr. Curtiss, during the technical conference, Board Staff asked you about an IR response you provided in the GPI NWTC MAAD application where you were asked about the tax benefits GPI received from the NWTC for non-capital losses, and this is -- you filed this as Appendix -- the Appendix B to JT1.17.  Maybe we can have that brought up.  It's the last page of the entire document, or last two pages.

And you were asked:

"Will GPI receive any tax benefits such as an NWTC non-capital losses from the transaction.  If so, please specify the benefits, including the amounts and how such benefits will allocated."

And your response is:

"NWTC has non-capital losses available which could be applied to provide a tax benefit.  However, it is not known at this time when it would be best to utilize these losses in tax filings, as reference in an application at section 1.6.23.  Rate-making implications are subject to GPI's next cost-of-service application.  GPI will receive these non-capital losses as part of the amalgamating both entities.  It is anticipated that these non-capital losses will be incorporated into the test year of GPI's next cost-of-service application.  They will be considered in the calculation of payment in lieu of taxes, PILs, and allocated to each customer class consistent with the methods to allocate PILs to each customer classes.  It is noted that the analysis outlined above in 2(a) does not take into account any tax losses in Case B.  The full details of how tax losses will be incorporated into the rate model are not currently available.  As a result, the impact of tax losses was not incorporated into the revenue-requirement calculation for Case B reference in 2(a).  Regardless of their application, the incorporation of tax losses into the revenue requirement would benefit all customers."

Do you see that, sir?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is your mic on?

MR. CURTISS:  It should be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding is when you filed your application you did what you said you would in this interrogatory.  Up until the new evidence was filed you were applying the NWTC tax losses to the benefit of your customers; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't think the mic actually is on.

MR. CURTISS:  It's on.  Can you hear me now?  There we go.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you -- in -- during that GPI NWTC MAAD application, is it your view that the Board looks at interrogatory responses and considers the position of the company in coming to its decision?

MR. CURTISS:  I'm sure it does, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you think parties look at the response to your interrogatory and it informs their position in that proceeding?

MR. CURTISS:  Certainly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  So how can the Board trust the things that you'll say in this proceeding if in another proceeding you said you would do something to the benefit of customers but then ultimately right before the hearing changed your position and determined that you will not do something to the benefit of customers?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  So based on during the proceeding for the MAAD application we based our evidence based on the best information we had at the time.  We did not do any in-depth analysis of the use of those loss carry-forwards, basically because we were not entirely focused on the rate implications, because those rate implications were to be determined in this proceeding, and we knew that the details of our application would be brought before the Board in this proceeding, so new evidence has come to our knowledge in this proceeding, and we've decided to go forward with it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  When you say "new evidence" is it correct that what you mean is a new opinion about the treatment, but there is no new facts that have been arisen in this proceeding?  You didn't find a tax loss or there was some calculation in the past that you didn't know about; it is just a new opinion about the treatment of those facts; is that fair?

MR. CURTISS:  Yeah, that's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And when the Board determines in a MAAD application, as you know, determine to approve it, it looks to see if there is a -- to ensure that there is no harm to ratepayers; is that your understanding, in a general sense --


MR. CURTISS:  The no-harms test, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree with me that if you had said in that proceeding that you would not provide loss carry-forwards to the benefit of customers that may have influenced the Board's decision or parties' position in that MAAD application?

MR. CURTISS:  It may or it may not have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

And let me ask you, your change of -- the change of position through the new evidence regarding the removal of the NWTC loss carry-forwards, what is the revenue-requirement impact of that alone, that change?  Do you know, roughly?

MR. CURTISS:  I'll have to defer that answer to Ms. Domokos.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I didn't do the calculation.  I don't have a figure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you ballpark that amount for us?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you give us a ballpark?

MS. DOMOKOS:  What...

MR. PICARD:  If we talk about the $291,000 times 26.5 percent, I believe the number -- I don't have a calculator, but it will be under $100,000.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm just talking with respect to the NWTC portion.

MR. PICARD:  That is correct, the 291,000.  That's the tax losses available in NWTC at the end of 2015.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And how that -- and is --


MR. PICARD:  That's the impact times 26 percent, because that is the tax impact, you know, that you are looking at, so it is less than $100,000.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct that how you would normally apply loss carry-forwards is you would spread that out over numerous -- over the term of the plan, the rate-setting plan, or would you apply it for the test year only?

MR. PICARD:  I believe it's going to be spread over the five years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it would be one-fifth of that amount that you said?

MR. PICARD:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And --


MR. PICARD:  So about $20,000.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the revenue requirement in the test year is $20,000.

MR. PICARD:  Correct.  Or less than 20,000.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Less than $20,000.

And can I ask Grimsby, how much would it cost to -- how much have you budgeted to retain Mr. Picard, to file the new evidence, to have a technical conference to respond to that, roughly?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry, that question just isn't appropriate.  We're not -- Grimsby has a position on PILs and loss carry-forwards.  We're here because the intervenors aren't prepared to accept that.

I mean, we can talk about how much work it's costing us for Mr. Rubenstein to be asking these questions too, but the point is that there is a position that Grimsby has on PILs, and there is an implication for it.  Mr. Rubenstein doesn't get to take another $20,000 because it doesn't happen to be a lot of money.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think it's an important question with respect to the prudence of the utility and the management of the utility to determine that they would file this new evidence for what is a test-year revenue requirement, 20,000, which I would not is significantly less than its materiality threshold.

So I'm just asking the question.  My friend can take whatever position he wants.  We may take any position that we feel, but that's a matter of argument.

MS. DUFF:  I think it is a matter of argument for OM&A.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I could ask the question --


MS. DUFF:  No, so that's right, so in terms of the question going forward?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I just confirm that your materiality threshold is $50,000?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Picard, I just have a few questions for you, and I think you briefly discussed this with -- there was a brief discussion with Mr. Aiken about this.  And I just wanted to confirm my understanding, and we had some discussion about this at the technical conference, and that was with respect to the loss carry-forwards and the PILs that may have been embedded.

My understanding from your position with respect to the NWTC, why that should not be included going forward and that should be -- is a share -- should be a shareholder benefit is partly that there were no PILs included in the rate that NWTC got into 2011; am I correct with that point?

MR. PICARD:  This is one of -- this is partially one of the points that I have.  There's two others.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, but I just want to focus on that one.

MR. PICARD:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct about that?

MR. PICARD:  That is -- yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think Mr. Aiken had a discussion earlier with the panel that it would be -- is it better to state -- more accurate to state that it is not that there would have been no PILs in the 2011 NWTC.  There would be a PILs, and I think you say in JT1.12 that that would have been about $37,000 roughly, but that was offset by a loss carry-forward from the previous year, so that there would be no -- no PILs built in.  Am I correct with that?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding is the previous year's rates -- so this would be before 2011 for NWTC, it's rates -- it got its rate based on the uniform transmission rate.  Do I understand that?

MR. PICARD:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding in the UTR, my understanding of the UTR, sort of in a general sense of how that is set, is that includes the revenue requirement and the billing determinants of all the licensed transmitters, correct?

MR. PICARD:  This is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in those, the revenue requirement for those transmitters -- Hydro One, Great Lakes and others -- would there have been a PILs amount included in their revenue requirements that make up the UTR?

MR. PICARD:  I don't know.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don’t know?

MR. PICARD:  I didn't look at their rate applications.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Now, you talk about in your report with respect to previous of 2011 -- and I'll take you to your slide specifically where you talk about this.  This is on slide 9 of your presentation.

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you mentioned this during the technical conference.  You talk about the rate previously being interim.

MR. PICARD:  Yes, it was an interim rate.  It was a proxy rate.  It was not based on the cost of service.  That's clear.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are two different things.  One is a proxy, as it's set on a basis that may be different than cost of service.  The other is an interim rate, meaning the rate is not finalized.  Which one is it?

MR. PICARD:  The rate is authorized on an interim Basis, as stated in the Board report.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware, or is the panel aware, was that rate ever finalized?

MR. PICARD:  That rate of 1.5 in 2005 to 2010 was supposed to -- well, it was discussed in the 2011 application.  And if you -- if I remember, they put in a cost of service application.  But at the end of it, the Board has concluded that they will only allow the rate of 1.77 and this is creating an issue for Grimsby, and they will keep a watch every year by asking them to supply financial statement to make sure that they are not incurring additional losses on a go-forward basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question is slightly different. Your view is based on a Board decision the rate -- beginning in 2005 until the rate application in 2011 was an interim rate, correct?

MR. PICARD:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware if that rate was ever finalized?

MR. PICARD:  When do we -- can you specify when you say -- what could be the result when you say "finalized"?  So going back to say the actual for six years is so much, and therefore you can apply for an additional revenue requirement?  Is that what --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That could be an interpretation.

MR. PICARD:  If the rate would have been finalized, I suppose that they would have been able eventually to cut it more, because they have been incurring losses every year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, in the 2011 application, did Grimsby seek a revenue requirement or some amount that it could recollect to represent what it felt was the difference, or it felt was some inequity between 2005 and 2010?

MR. PICARD:  I remember5 they applied -- well, in order to recover the OM&A and the maximum rate of return, they should have been given a rate of 1.94 and not 1.77.

So therefore, they were given a lower rate to recover the costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's with respect, it’s my understanding, to the 2011 costs.

MR. PICRAD:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did they seek an amount to represent some amount that they believed they should have gotten, if it was set on a cost of service basis or some other basis, from 2005 to 2010?

MR. PICARD:  Well, to be honest, I don't think they seeked, but I'm not sure they were allowed.  That I don't know.  I don't know whether the regulatory requirements will permit Grimsby to say, well, there’s been an interim rate, now let’s finalise the rate for the past six years.  I don't know.

MR. CURTISS:  Maybe I can answer that.  My understanding was there was no cost of service until 2011, until the 2011 application.  And therefore, by inference, they didn't seek recovery based on their cost until that application was presented.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Just one last question.  There was a discussion about why there was a loss to NWTC after 2011, and I heard you this morning discuss that it was primarily based on their actual interest rate was higher than what was built into the rate in 2011.

Did I understand that correctly?

MR. PICARD:  The actual interest rate was higher than the deemed interest rate allowed in the return on equity and also in the PILs calculation models since 2010, that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it is based on the return on equity.  Is the difference based on the return of equity?

MR. PICARD:  No, it's based on -- sorry, can you rephrase your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let we go back and I’ll -- maybe I misunderstood what you said.

I just want to understand -- from what I understood your comment is the difference -- there was a loss that happened for NWTC, and one of the primary drivers of that loss beginning in 2011 was that there was a difference between the interest that was built into their rate in 2011 and what their actual -- the -- their interest expense was.  Am I correct?

MR. PICARD:  Yes, the actual interest is higher than the deemed interest, and is higher than the tax losses on every year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want understand what's the driver of that.  Why did that occur?

MR. PICARD:  Because there is a different -- you know, the deemed structure is different than the actual Structure.  But the model to calculate the PILs and calculate the revenue requirement excludes the actual interest in both the return on equity and also on the PILs models.  So therefore, it's out of the model.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then the difference -- this occurred not based on -- this occurred based on the difference between the regulatory structure and NWTC's actual structure?

MR. PICARD:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Janigan, are you prepared to proceed to proceed?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

My first question follows up on an exchange that you've just had with Mr. Rubenstein about the change in the position of Grimsby.  And my understanding from that is that change in position was as a result of the of the receipt of the KPMG report.  Is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  And discussions prior to the final report, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And when you filed this report to contained this change of position, did you draw to the attention of the Board that in fact Grimsby was changing it's position that it outlined in the MAAD application?

MR. CURTISS:  Not specifically, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  Why not?

MR. CURTISS:  Because the MAAD application is not about cost of service and rates; it's about an amalgamation.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but you made a commitment in that proceeding, and the interrogatory presumably, to have that reflected in rates at the next rate application.  And you changed that position, which you say was based on new information.

Surely that is something that the Board would be interested in.

MR. CURTISS:  We also made it perfectly clear in that MAAD application that rates were the subject of this cost of service proceeding, and that the details of those rates would be a result of this proceeding.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the first time that this came to the attention of the -- in the formal proceedings would have been when this question was asked of you in the technical conference?

MR. CURTISS:  Our further inquires into this issue is a result of the settlement conference.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, no.  But I mean the first time that this would have appeared in the documentation in the record of this proceeding would have been your answer in the technical conference that you, in fact, had changed your position?

MR. CURTISS:  Let me see the timing here.  So, yes, our evidence was filed before the technical conference, correct?

MR. JANIGAN:  And at the technical conference was the first mention of the fact that this conflicted with what you had indicated to the Board before would be the result in any rates proceeding.  Wasn't that's correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Could you repeat that again, please?

MR. JANIGAN:  In fact, when you filed the new evidence, the new evidence conflicted with what you had told the Board before in the rates proceeding, and the first mention of the fact of that conflict was in your answer in the technical conference to a question from Board Staff.

MR. CURTISS:  Are you referring to this rate proceeding?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the reason why it appeared only for the first time in a question asked in the technical conference was what?  Why wouldn't you, when you filed the new report, say:  This is new information, this conflicts with what we've indicated to the Board before, and this is the reason why we want to do it?

MR. CURTISS:  That was the purpose of filing additional evidence.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah, but you didn't mention the fact that it conflicted with what you said before to the Board.

MR. CURTISS:  The information we have that we filed before is on record, and not specifically did we mention that, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  So it's up to us to ferret out what you've said before in order to find out whether or not it conflicts with what you are saying now; is that what you're saying?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't believe that is a fair characterization.  The intervenors have been involved with this process since the beginning, and they are fully aware of the situation, so I wouldn't say that this was -- the Board's been disadvantage in any way.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Mr. Picard, I wonder if I could ask you a few questions.

MR. PICARD:  You may.

MR. JANIGAN:  First of all, as I understand it, you've based your opinion with respect to the NWTC tax losses based on the Great Lakes decision.

MR. PICARD:  No, I based it on the other three facts, and that was an add-up to say, well, what have they been accepting in the past, but it was based on the fact that it was an interim rate that was not a cost of service.  It was not a just and reasonable rate.  It was approved by the Board for six years.  I base it on the fact that no PILs have ever been incurred, and I base it on the fact that, in fact, the losses, you know, could be attributed to the difference between the deemed interest and the actual interest.  These are the three -- then I look also at the cases that have been adjudicated by the Board.

MR. JANIGAN:  And is there any other case that you are aware of that you think is applicable, apart from the Great Lakes case and the OPG case, which I take it you don't feel is applicable in this case.

MR. PICARD:  No, I -- again, I have stated that the Great Lakes case was a unique case.  The OPG case for 2007, when they moved for the first time, when they became for the first time rate-regulated company or regulated by the Board, sorry, that was also a unique circumstance, and I believe here again it's a unique circumstance.  It is different than any other rates decision that have been issued by the Board.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in the Great Lakes case the situation was there were costs that were disallowed by the Board.

MR. PICARD:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Were costs disallowed by the Board here?

MR. PICARD:  Yes, it is disallowed by the system.  The Board.  I don't know if it's the Board, but the regulatory treatment, you know, that is required by -- and I don't know now if I'm -- is it the Board, is it the Staff, but at least the OEB requirements to set up, you know, when you set up your PILs, is to exclude the actual interest.  So therefore, I don't know if I can decline or -- I don't know if I can, you know, say that to the Board or not, but I don't know.  It is -- the regulatory requirements exclude the actual interest.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the company came forward with an application, and the Board approved it, in the case of the 2011 application; isn't that correct?  The Board didn't disallow costs.

MR. CURTISS:  Which application are you referring to?

MR. JANIGAN:  The 2011 application of NWTC.

MR. PICARD:  They didn't disallow.  They didn't approve either.  They just said, 'We will not be looking at the -- at the...'  Board is...

I can't find the reference, but the Board said, 'We will not be looking at the load and the revenue requirements.  We will only accept, you know, we will use the UTR as the rate, you know, and so therefore we don't approve the load and the revenue requirement.'

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, that was up to 2011, right?  2011 they applied for a new rate.

MR. PICARD:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, and you've said that the rate that was applied up to 2011 wasn't a just and reasonable rate.  Can you tell me where in the statutes that the Board is capable of applying a rate that is not just and reasonable?

MR. PICARD:  I believe it is called the interim rate.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the interim rate is not a just and reasonable rate?

MR. PICARD:  I think the Board has said for the first time they will approve -- they have approved -- you know, they would be looking at just and reasonable in 2011, so the word "just and reasonable" has never been, you know, discussed before the six years.

MR. JANIGAN:  But isn't your understanding of all rates that must be approved by the Board have to be just and reasonable?

MR. PICARD:  Yes, but there was also some concern by the Board even in the 2008 rate application, and it says that:

"NWTC shall provide to the Board annually by April 30th audited financial statements.  Where these financial statements of the corporate entity regulated by the Board contains material businesses not regulated by the Board..."

So they said we need to take a watch on you because we are giving you a rate which is not allowing you to recover your rates fully -- your revenue requirements or your new requirements fully, so therefore, you know, it's a rate.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. PICARD:  That is not, you know, is not in accordance with the -- a cost-of-service application.

MR. JANIGAN:  Are you saying that every time the Board sets a rate and a company shows an operating loss as a result of that rate that the operating loss that it shows can only inure to the benefit of the shareholder and not the customer; is that what you are saying?

MR. PICARD:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  What circumstance can an operating loss then be used to reduce the taxable income for PILs?  What circumstance can that occur in?

MR. PICARD:  Can you be a bit more -- what circumstance that you can use a tax losses?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, is there any scenario that you can give us where the ratepayers get the benefit of the loss carry-forward with respect to the calculation of PILs?

MR. PICARD:  I would think when the ratepayers have incurred the costs and also the PILs, you know, and if as a result of that, you know, I would think, you know, that, yes, you know, I would allow, you know, the tax-loss carry-forward to be for the benefit, you know, of the customer.

I think it follows, the benefit follow the cost, so the cost has been incurred by the customer, so the benefit should be for them, but in the case here, again, I am repeating myself, the actual interest was higher than the deemed interest, and that has caused a loss, and that has never been, you know, incurred by the customers, so I believe here it is unique, you know, for that piece, you know, the -- just the deemed interest versus the actual.  Just take that in isolation, it is more than any of the tax losses in every given year, so therefore they have never incurred a cost, so therefore it should be for the benefit, you know, of the person that has incurred the cost.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, take the ordinary situation where let's say the load doesn't materialize and the utility shows a loss.  Are you saying that that loss is only for the benefit of the shareholder?

MR. PICARD:  No, I'm not saying that.  I'm just talk about the interest.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. PICARD:  My argumentation is about the interest.  Although the loss was -- the load was lower than that was in their rate application.  I'm not referring to that.  I'm referring here to the interest.

MR. JANIGAN:  The interest is directly related, though, to the operations of the company, is it not?  I guess I'm struggling with trying to divide the line between those losses that are the result of the ordinary operations of the company and this other kind of situation where the shareholder alone gets the benefit of any operating loss brought forward.  Can you distinguish those two for me?

MR. PICARD:  Okay, can you rephrase again.  Sorry, I'm...

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, I'm trying to distinguish between the circumstance.

You've agreed with me earlier that at some point in time there are operating losses that a utility has that --


MR. PICARD:  Should benefit the customer.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- benefit the customer.

MR. PICARD:  And the others that should not.

MR. JANIGAN:  And others that should not.  What's the dividing line there?

MR. PICARD:  Well, I believe, you know, the benefit follow the cost, you know, should be your principle that you should be looking at.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah, but, I mean, in this case, in the first case, if you have an operating loss, the shareholders don't earn their rate of return.  They are the ones that suffer the -- the loss comes in their bailiwick.

MR. PICARD:  Sure, but it is a pattern.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in a situation the customers get the benefit, and in two of these circumstances, at least in relation to the 2011 NWTC costs, number one is the board of directors decided to set rates at a level in which they wouldn't recover their first -- their entire cost of equity, and do you have any opinion on what would have been just and reasonable rates at that -- at the 2011?

MR. PICARD:  Well, according to the filing of Grimsby, it should have been 194 --


 MR. JANIGAN:  But I mean --


 MR. PICARD:  -- 177 to recover all the costs.

MR. JANIGAN:  You realize that regulation is a proxy for example competition, do you not?

MR. PICARD:  Can you say that again?  If I --

MR. JANIGAN:  Would you agree with me that regulation is a proxy for competition?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And when we set rates, presumably the rates are set with a view to looking at what is a reasonable rate for transmission across all of Ontario, am I correct?

MR. PICARD:  Correct, but I think they were not included in part -- they were not part of that UTR calculations.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you know whether or not, when the board of directors set those rates, they were looking at other rates that were being charged by similar transmission companies and setting it at a reasonable rate, even though it would not collect their full rate of return?  Can you say that with any --

MR. PICARD:  Sure, that is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in that circumstance, this is entirely within the province of the shareholder and the director to set rates, is it not?

MR. PICARD:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And they failed to even collect the target that they had set; isn't that correct?

MR. PICARD:  They've collected the target they have set?

MR. JANIGAN:  They didn't collect the target that they had set --

MR. PICARD:  No, they have not, correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I'm saying is, at least in this circumstance, why doesn’t that fall into the category that we initially established that effectively, when a company fails to earn its rate of return or shows an operating loss, that that loss comes to the benefit of the customers rather than the company?  Do you follow?

MR. PICARD:  Your question?  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you follow?  Do you follow why doesn't that fall in the first category that we’ve established?

MR. PICARD:  I think the EDR in 2006 talks about when the costs are -- some of the costs that are only paid by the -- sorry, that are incurred by the shareholder should, you know, should be excluded, you know, for the PILs calculations, and I believe this is one of those costs that could be, you know, say that it's a cost incurred by the shareholder.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions for this panel.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  All right.  I'm going to have to lean in here a bit.

I just want to follow up -- and Mr. Rubenstein covered a little bit of the area I was going to cover -- but I want to ask Mr. Picard a couple of questions.

In undertaking JT1.11, the response was that you had reviewed the decision and order dated March 25, 2015, in preparation of the KPMG report, and I just want to be clear.

 You didn't review the application or the evidence in that proceeding?

MR. PICARD:  No, I was looking for the tax loss carry-forward.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And you didn't -- so therefore, you didn't review the interrogatory response that was given --

MR. PICARD:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  -- regarding the treatment of the tax loss carry-forward?

MR. PICARD:  That is correct.

MR. STOLL:  And would you agree that a utility’s statements to the regulator would have been relevant to your consideration of the issue?

MR. PICARD:  I believe we have been asked to opine as to whether or not those tax losses should be for the benefit of the customer or the shareholder.  I'm opining on that, regardless of the previous rate applications, you know.

MR. STOLL:  Well, it wasn't a rate application.  It was a response by the utility to the specific question on how they intended to allocate those losses.

I understand you're saying that's not relevant to your consideration or your --

MR. PICARD:  I didn't consider it, and I'm not sure that would change my view.  I believe those costs, you know, should have been incurred by the shareholder and therefore the benefits principle -- the benefit, for the cost principle, I believe, should be attributed to the shareholder.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  I take from your statement, you said you didn't know if it would -- if having that information would change your opinion.

MR. PICARD:  It would not change my opinion.

MR. STOLL:  It would not?

MR. PICARD:  Would not.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  The other thing you said the benefit should follow the cost.  If the Board disagrees with your conclusion the -- and the loss go to the benefit of the customers, would you agree that the split should be 60/40 between the embedded distributor and the remainder of the rate classes to allocate that?

MR. PICARD:  That's a good question.  I don't know.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. PICARD:  It's an interesting question.  I know it's quite a unique situation here that we are in, you know.

MR. STOLL:  Right, okay.

MR. PICARD:  I would need more time to reflect on that, you know.

MR. STOLL:  If I ask a couple of questions and --we'll maybe come back and see if that helps, and this is open to the rest of the panel.

Would it be fair to say historically the revenue derived from the transformer station was approximately 40 percent from Niagara Peninsula and 60 percent from Grimsby?

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Stoll, is this not a settled issue?

MR. STOLL:  No, not really.

MS. DUFF:  I thought the allocation was settled.

MR. STOLL:  I hope so.  I don't know if they would propose that this would be allocated in the same way as all the other things have been allocated or not.

MS. FRANK:  Has there been any suggestion that there are two settlement approaches to this?  There is just one, isn't there?

MR. STOLL:  When we settled, I don't think that we were aware that this was actually still on the table.  I thought the --

MS. FRANK:  But, Mr. Stoll, there was no other alternative put forward, right?  There is just one.  In the settlement agreement, there is just one.

MR. STOLL:  Right, but at the time I believe we had discussed, or we were under the impression that the application had formed that it was going to flow to the benefit of the customer.

MS. FRANK:  But your question is not whose benefit. You're questioning specifically what the allocation would be, and I'm saying that is a settled issue.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, then if that's a -- if that's Confirmed, then I'm fine with that.

MS. FRANK:  Well, there is nothing that says that there isn't, is there?  In the settlement, is there anything that says that it isn't a settled issue?

MR. STOLL:  At the time that the settlement agreement was entered into, there is no indication that the benefit was not going to the customers in general.

MS. FRANK:  And it would have gone in the same ratio as everything else was settled.

MR. STOLL:  I would presume so, yes.

MS. FRANK:  So I think we can -- this issue is behind us.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to interrupt, Ms. Frank.  It probably is behind us, but I just want to make one thing clear.

The PILs issue wasn't settled, and when the PILs issue was settled, the items that we are dealing with today were known to the parties.

I'm not getting into settlement discussions when I say that, but my point is it was clear that PILs was an unsettled issue.  It was clear that cost allocation was a settled issue.

MS. FRANK:  Are you suggesting -- because then I will let Mr. Stoll proceed.  I thought he was covering ground that was unnecessary.

 But are you telling me that you feel the allocation would change from what's in the settlement for this particular item?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, I don't believe that's the case.  I'm just trying to dispel any implication that the NWTC issue suddenly came out of nowhere following the finalization of the settlement agreement.

MS. FRANK:  Oh, no, that was not my point, Mr. Sidlofsky.  My point was on the allocation methodology.  When I thought that's where the questioning was going, was there yet another approach that might be used and since there was nothing in the settlement agreement about various options, there was but one, I didn't think we needed to spend the time on it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I agree with your view that this is a settled issue.  I do take exception to my friend's comments.  While he's saying he's not breaching settlement privilege, I don't think that is correct, and I don't think his interpretation is accurate, and I will not go into any more than that for the reasons that it is clearly covered by the settlement conference guidelines that is privileged.

MS. FRANK:  Mr. Stoll, did you have other line of questioning?

MR. STOLL:  Yeah, just one or two questions, and I understand you, Mr. Picard, you said that your -- part of your conclusions are based on the difference between the deemed interest and the actual interest.

MR. PICARD:  Correct.

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and that is attributed, in part, because of the deemed structure the utility uses, as opposed to their actual structure.

MR. PICARD:  Yes, and also because the regulatory requirements in the PILs form is built up like that.  It is to include only the deemed interest; not the actual interest.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  So what was -- do you know what the actual structure of NWTC was at that time?

MR. PICARD:  No, I would defer to Mr. Curtiss or to Ms. Mioara.  I don't know.  I don't have the numbers.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I was not involved in that rate application, so I don't know any figures.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Yeah, those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Stoll.

Ms. Djurdjevic, are you prepared to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So I'll start off with the MAADS application.  We have had some questions on that, but I just wanted to clarify a couple points about that transaction, and just for the record, that is EB File No. EB-2014-0344.

And presumably -- and I guess this question is for primarily Mr. Curtiss, who would understand what's involved in that -- there would have been some -- I assume some investigation or due diligence as part of the transaction; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And it would have been clear to everybody involved that NWTC was under-earning, in fact that it had been running losses for several years; correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The MAADS application, the decision  -- applying the no-harm test -- concluded that it was in the interest of customers and there was no harm, and I guess sort of one of the other intervenors may have put this question to you, but had the OEB been aware that there was a possibility these loss carry-forwards would be used in any other way, do you believe the no-harm test would have been satisfied in the MAADS application?

MR. CURTISS:  You're asking me to provide an opinion of the Board.  I'm not sure whether I can answer that question.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, you may recall the MAADS application indicated that there was some $35,000 of savings that would be achieved in the amalgamation.  And I guess my question is if -- and that was assuming, you know, loss carry-forwards would all be kept in the regulated business.

If it was before the Board that this was not a possibility or that the shareholder would appropriate that benefit and if was any consideration about whether there still would have been a $35,000 savings and whether there would have been a benefit to ratepayers of the amalgamation or whether there might have been harm.

MR. CURTISS:  Well, I guess in order to determine that we would need to determine the order of magnitude of that difference and apply it, and I don't know what that difference would be.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, in any event, Grimsby -- rather, Grimsby shareholders well-aware that it was acquiring a utility that had been losing money and that had a revenue deficiency, and but for some savings arguably it might not have been a prudent -- or a result that had no harm.  I'm just suggesting that to you, but I suppose your counsel will probably want to leave it until argument.

MR. CURTISS:  I think it's important to note that, you know, the amalgamation of Grimsby and Niagara West, there was discussion of this in the last rate application of Niagara West.  Niagara West had a lot of regulatory issues, and I believe it was suggested in that proceeding that it would be beneficial for Niagara West to become a distribution asset in order to clean up some of the regulatory issues that it faced that were likely not going to get solved otherwise.

So I know you're specifically asking me about the last carry-forward, but there are many other benefits to this transaction that are not -- better outside of just that one input, if you will.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my next few questions are, I guess, for Mr. Picard, Ms. Domokos, and we've already got on the record what the Distribution Rate Handbook requires in terms of how to treat loss carry-forwards, and I will just -- just for the record, it's section 7.2.3:

"The loss carry-forwards must be applied in full to reduce taxable income."

And then there is a second paragraph that is sort of an exception to that:

"If a distributor has within its legal entity a business other than a distribution business, loss carry-forwards must be allocated."

Now, I know that's not the situation in this case, but I do want to talk a bit about exceptions to the -- what is clearly stated in the Distribution Rate Handbook.

And one of them would be if there's a non-distribution business, and you've referred to the GLP -- Great Lakes Power case which, in part, is reproduced in OEB Staff's compendium, which I need to make an exhibit.  What are we at?  It is K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And I'm looking at page 7, which is page 40 of the GLP decision, and under the heading "Board findings" -- I'm just going to, you know, read excerpts.  In that case, as you may be aware, there were some tax losses that arose due -- out of GLP's non-distribution business, and the Board in that case referred to the standalone principle which, as you know, if losses come out of your non-regulated business they stay there, you don't merge them, and then the Board goes on in that GLP decision to talk -- to quote an excerpt from the report of the Board before the 2006 DRH, Distribution Rate Handbook, was released.

And specifically -- and now I'm looking at that quote from -- this is the second-last paragraph, where the Board since have turned its mind to specifically the treatment of tax savings.  And the quote from the report says:

"The Board rejects a proposal by Schools and concludes that tax savings arising from disallowed expenses..."

Et cetera, et cetera:

"...will not be allocated to ratepayers."

And I suggest to you that it was the fact that the expenses were disallowed to be recovered from ratepayers, that is what causes the benefit to shift to shareholders.

Would you agree with me that based on this excerpt from the Board report and the Distribution Rate Handbook and what you know about our business, that that is the critical decision point as to whether a cost and benefit guess to ratepayers or shareholders, it is whether the Board has allowed it, and not whether the applicant or utility has, on its own, decided to apply or not -- or how to allocate the benefits and costs?

MR. PICARD:  I think your last statement seems to be incorrect.  I think it's not a choice in the PILs form or form that you included.  You don't include the system, calculate the deemed interest.  And that's the number that is entered into the formula.

So the actual interest can never be entered.  So it is a cost which is rejected by the PILs -- by the form, the work form, the PILs work form.

So is it because the Board has approved those PILs work form before, because you are saying that the Board has refused those costs, but have not refused the -- sure, but the system tells you that you cannot include that.  So I don't know why that is that different.

I think that's the same case here, that those actual interests cannot be -- they are similar to the charitable donations or purchased goodwill. These are costs disallowed either by the Board or the PILs work-form-slash-Board.

I don't know if I can say slash-Board.  I presume it is approved also by the Board, the PILs work form, or the system to calculate it.  So I don't see all the difference.  And also, if I read the GLPL, it says also the Board accepted the position in the 2006 handbook, the Distribution Rate Handbook, that loss carry-forwards should be taken into account in setting rates.  The Board does not believe that position is applicable in all rates cases before the Board.  And in that case they said, well, in that case, we believe you have an exception, and I believe it is an exception very similar to the point that you have just mentioned.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Well, I'm not going to get too deeply in the PILs model, which is not my expertise by far. But I would suggest to you, as I'm told by staff, that that part of the PILs model is about allocating and distinguishing between regulated and unregulated.  Do you agree with that?

MR. PICARD:  This is not and issue of regulated or unregulated.  I think it is a regulated business, but the interest, which is higher than the deemed interest, is excludes from the model.  It is nothing to do with regulated or unregulated.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  All right.  I have some further questions about the GLP case, which you’ve read and so you are familiar with the reason that the costs were not allowed for recovery from ratepayers.

 Just to sum it up it, it was a deferral account that the distributor unilaterally established.  It was a rate mitigation account.  There was almost a $15,000,000 balance that had accumulated from 2002 to about 2007, which included the period during the Bill 2010 rate freeze.  And then they came to the Board some years later and said they would like to now, you know, recover this from ratepayers and the Board disallowed the vast majority of it, some $12 million.

And in its reasons for decision, the Board -- well, first of all indicated that the reason that that cost with not being allowed for recovery was because the account had not been approved by the Board.  As a matter of principle and policy, a deferral account cannot be established and accumulated without Board approval.

And I have -- although in that case, I point out that clearly the ratepayers had the benefit, that 12-plus-million dollars of rate mitigation, ratepayers had a benefit and the Board said, no, you are still not recovering from ratepayers because this account was not was not authorized and that was a -- and that gave rise to, because those costs were disallowed to be recovered from ratepayers, it shifted to the shareholder and the shareholder then had the benefit of the loss carry-forward.

So here's what I'm suggesting is that the reason was not -- was because the Board had determined whether costs could be recovery from A or B.  That's what causes the loss, and then the benefits from that flow from there.

I unfortunately don't have a copy of the entire GLP decision for everybody, so I'll just read just an excerpt from the transcript on the record, and then we can all obtain copies afterward.

And the -- I guess it’s the page 43 of the GLP decision -- although there are a couple of places, you know, where the Board's decision states if certain amounts are not permitted for recovery, then it goes to the shareholder.

And then on this page 43 part of the decision, two times the Board says:
"Since the Board has denied recovery of the
amount accrued for rate mitigation, the resulting losses should not be through to ratepayers, but rather to GLP."

And I don't know if you have any comments on that.  I just want to, before everybody does their arguments, in fairness, put that to you that the principle that is really underlying the GLP decision is whether the Board has approved certain costs and allowed them to be passed on to ratepayers and, if not, then the shareholder retains the benefit.

MR. PICARD:  Correct, but the EDR 2006 says that when you have a cost that is disallowed by the shareholder -- this is the basic principle -- then it should be -- you know, it should not be for the benefit of the ratepayers. And I believe the generic principle that is in EDR 2006, I think applies this case that saying, well, I’ve got a cost here.  That I may be.

And I don't know.  Again, maybe somebody needs to confirm to me when the PILs work form is used and this is the requirement of the OEB and I believe the requirement of the OEB -- I would think that somebody maybe needs to help me out here.  I am not -- I believe the Board has also approved that work form, so therefore they don't need to approve each time because it says in the work form it is clear that you cannot.

Therefore we are going away from, you know --


MS. DJURJEVIC:  Thank you for your comments.  I have just a couple of more questions and I would like to refer you to -- oh, what -- this was in the technical conference Exhibit KT1.1.  It was your report, Mr. Picard -- not the slide presentation today, but the report you had filed.

And I'm looking at page 5, where you discuss the 2011 cost of service application by NWTC, and I'm looking at -- do you have that before you?

MR. PICARD:  I'm listening.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  In the second paragraph, where it quotes from that decision EB-2010-0425, it says:
“In the course of the proceeding, the application was modified and summarized in the argument in-chief as a request for approval of a revenue requirement of 767,000…,” et cetera, “and a transformation connection rate of one dollar.”

 MS. FRANK:  Sorry, could you wait for a moment?

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Yes, if we could just put that up.  It is from the technical conference KT 1.1.

MS. DUFF:  From the transcript?

MS. DJURJEVIC:  No, from the technical conference.  It was an exhibit filed at the technical conference.  Yes, page 5.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Up a little bit please.  So it is that second paragraph in quotation marks:

"In the course of the proceeding, the application was modified ...,” et cetera et cetera.

And clearly there was a request by NWTC in that cost of service application for that revenue requirement and that connection charge.

The next paragraph goes on to say here's the requested tariff.  It was 177 and there was revenue deficiency.

MR. PICARD:  No, I think they requested 194, but the application is related to the 177.

I’m taking the word, but I think what is meant when you go back to the decision, there was a 194 requested by Grimsby, but the only rate that was allowed to be used was 177 which represented the UTR at that time.

But the request to get a full recovery of the OM&A and the full rate of return was 194.

MR. CURTISS:  I can maybe add to that.  It is my understanding that the $1.77 was the settlement value that they agreed to go forward with.  It obviously is worded in this particular way, and they didn’t obviously ask for this in the original application.  They asked for more.  But in the end they settled for the $1.77.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  All right, that is quoting from your report and, if that was the case, that was how the Board fixed it.  But we do not have a situation here where an application in a hearing was -- in the -- and the Board heard a request for $1.94 and disallowed it.

Clearly NWTC had accepted the $1.77 and that was what was before the Board.

And the only reason I mention this in parallel with the GLP case, and something to think about as I proceed to everybody's closing argument, that there is a distinction here and that in GLP, you have a case where certain costs were disallowed.  So one party didn't get them; the other got the benefit of the losses.

And in NWTC's case, we don't have any request that was disallowed by the Board.  And so those costs, the deficiencies in those costs, you know, this is a different -- a distinction situation from a GLP case, I would suggest to you.

MR. PICARD:  But I would like also to suggest that the deemed versus the actual, this is as a result of the PILs model approved by the OEB, so I don't see why there is a difference.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mm-hmm.  Yeah.

I think that's all I have.  I'm just going to take a quick look through my notes, because some other people covered most of what I had.

All right.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Sidlofsky, the Board Panel does not have any questions.  Do you have any redirect?
Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I just want to -- sorry, I just wanted to confirm a couple of numbers.

Going back to -- and maybe I can direct the first part of this to Mr. Curtiss -- going back to the Grimsby Power NWTC MAADS application, I think it may have been Ms. Djurdjevic who indicated that anticipated -- anticipated cost savings were $35,000; do you recall that?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And moving to you, Mr. Picard, you had roughly calculated the impact of the NWTC-related loss carry-forwards, the revenue-requirement impact, at less than $20,000; is that --


MR. PICARD:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I guess panel number 1 is excused with the Board's thanks.  Thank you very much.

We'll take an hour break, and we'll return at quarter to 2:00, and we'll start with panel number 2, is my understanding.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:46 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Good afternoon.  We are starting with panel number 2 on the topic of OM&A, and I think all the panel members have sworn, and Mr. Picard has now left.
GRIMSBY POWER INC. - PANEL 2, OM&A
Doug Curtiss,

Mioara Domokos,

Amy La Selva; Previously Affirmed.

And in terms of evidence-in-chief, Mr. Sidlofsky, do you want to proceed?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes, I will.  I'll just remind the witnesses that they are still under oath, or under their affirmations from the first panel.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Sidlofsky:

And really I'd like to turn the microphone over to Mr. Curtiss.

I understand, sir, that you'd like to make some comments about the OM&A request in the application.

MR. CURTISS:  Thank you.  I'll try to keep my comments as brief as possible, and I'd like to focus on the themes of our application.  And I'd like to first start with our last rate application for January 1, 2012, rates  just to try to put our current application in context.

This cost of service application marks the second application produced under my leadership at Grimsby Power, which began in 2010.

Throughout this time, I believe Grimsby Power has been much more engaged in providing the electrical distribution services that customers depend on and expect from our company.

During the oral hearing of our 2011 cost of service filing for 2012 rates, I made some general comments about Grimsby Power as it stood at that point in time.

I highlighted a number of circumstances that Grimsby Power was working through that related to increases in OM&A which were, the last time around, included in the oral hearing as an unsettled issue as well.

These included Grimsby Power's OM&A cost per customer.  At that time, it was in the lowest in it's cohort, the next lowest being 28.8 percent higher.

With the increase in OM&A presented at the outset of the oral hearing, Grimsby Power would still be the second lowest in that cohort.

From the period from 2008 to 2010, the organization functioned without a CEO, and the utility was a low cost utility, but for all the wrong reasons, including health and safety basics were not being actively promoted, professional development was virtually nonexistent, the upkeep of tools and equipment was not adequate and requests for repairs or updating were frowned upon.

Financial processes were fractured and getting basic financial information in a timely manner was really not possible at that time, and that all of this was leading the organization to take unnecessary risks to keep costs down and that this way of operating a business was not sustainable.

So the bottom line and the reason for presenting this information to the Board at the time was that OM&A needed to increase at a level outside of the envelope that the intervenors were willing to agree with.

This was necessary to be able to right the ship, so speak.

In the end the Board skidded that the justifications for our increase in OM&A were valid, and almost all the requested O&MA was approved.  So we thank the Board for this decision, as it provided the necessary resources to move the organization from the status quo past to a properly functioning LDC, given the requirements at the time.

So I am now going to move on to the rate rebasing period from 2012 to 2015.

Over the last four-year period, we have focused on Putting that an additional OM&A to work by improving the systems set in motion prior to the application, the development of our human resources, and we have invested in some key systems to increase our efficiency and provide services to our customers.

Some of the key improvements in investments are as Follows.  First of all, an ERP system.  This system integrates business transactions from the inception of an engineering operations work order, implementing that instruction order in the field, and through to the production of financial statements.

The system is key to increasing the efficiency of the process transactions, and to provide the needed data and the subsequent information to keep business activities on track.

Equipment and tool investments; Grimsby Power purchased a new aerial device replacing two older devices, which at the time were in excess of twenty years old.  Many other small tools and instruments are been replaced and upgraded with today's technology.

We continue to budget in a very detailed expense by expense manner and in terms of OM&A, and although we have increased our OM&A above Board-approved levels, we have been very successful in executing our budget, as detailed in our response to interrogatory 4-Staff-33.

With the exception of 2012, which has some nuances related to the approval of the application, we have been under OM&A budget for the last three years running.  Our objective is to execute the budget, which is basically our budget are business plan from an OM&A perspective, to come as close to that budgeted expense as possible.  Expenses are budgeted with known costs, or known costs plus an inflationary factor, with no rounding and no allowances for unknown events or expenses.

In 2013, we were 1.3 percent under budget.  In 2014, 4.8, and in 2015, 9.8 under budget due to some staffing issues and other issues that didn't get executed during the year.

From a capital perspective and referencing 2-Staff-12, we have maintained capital investments, on average, $247,695 more than OEB approved value since 2012.

On the human resource side, we have upgraded our compensation package for management staff to be competitive with the median LDCs in the 20,000 customer less customer group, and we have maintained education and training for staff at all levels.

Now I would like to address the OM&A increases from 2012 Board-approved levels to the current proposal for 2016.

I'd like to start by referring to interrogatory 1-Staff-6.  Within this interrogatory, we explained the main drivers for cost increases from 2012 Board-approved levels to the test year.

In the oral hearing for 2012 rates, Ms. Domokos testified that at the time we knew of additional expenses totalling at that time an estimated $87,900.  But due to the timing of those expenses, we were not seeking recovery during the 2012 rate application.

However, these costs did come to fruition and as such, the 2012 Board-approved OM&A was not going to cover actual expenses right from the start.  As such, Grimsby Power believes references to the 2012 Board-approved OM&A of $2,407,163 should be adjusted upward, thus reducing the value of the percentage increase from 2012 to the 2016 test year.

Referring to table 4-4 in our response to
1-Staff-6(a), during the next three years, and taking into account for one time items such as cost at attributed to the smart meter implementation, 2011 cost of service costs, the Niagara West MTS amalgamation, and the additional items noted in the oral hearing, increases in OM&A have been kept fairly low.

So if we make adjustments, the increase is 3.82 percent, 3.64 percent, and 2.86 percent from 2012 to 2015.

All along, Grimsby Power has added costs based on its sound budget planning process.  However, the bulk of the increase is proposed for 2016, the rate year, the test year.

So, in preparation for the 2016 and the next rebasing period from 2016 to 2020, we have prepared for this cost of service by proceeding the following: the outcomes-based approach as adopted by the Board and, in particular, in support for the four RRFE objectives, customer focus, operational effectiveness, public policy responsiveness, and financial performance.

The main support for these increases in OM&A are our two customer surveys and our comprehensive succession planning analysis.

We have purposely evaluated what the demands of our customers are, and how to fulfill these requirements.  We have planned ahead to compensate for retirements, customer growth, technological advancement, increasing regulatory requirements as they evolve and changes in our operating environment that may be due to Ministry of Energy directives and codes, et cetera.  We have therefore provided the evidence to create just rates for our customers.  We have also evaluated the impact on customers through the end result of our efforts, which is very often measured by our customers through the cost of our service on their bills.

Our response to interrogatory 1-Staff-6(d) details the cost impact to customers compared with our Niagara region LDCs, our neighbours, using 2016 rates as the base, and with the increase in OM&A proposed Grimsby Power's residential and general service customer costs remain below the average of our Niagara region neighbours.

Our rates are therefore, in our opinion, reasonable and are not out of step with our neighbours -- neighbour LDCs.

So what does the future hold with respect to potential increases in OM&A going forward and potentially in the next rate application?  One of the questions that I've heard within our cost-of-service proceeding is:  Why should the Board approve such a large increase in OM&A when this is essentially the second time around when we have asked the Board to support a substantial increase in OM&A?

In 2012, as described earlier, my intention was to right the ship, as I said, at Grimsby Power and put the company on a path where they could get back to a sustainable business operation.

Over the past four years we have executed our plan and are in a much better place than we were in 2011.  However, as we have been playing catch up, the business environment has not stayed still.  It has continued to evolve.  The release of the report of the Board on the renewed regulatory framework for electrical distributors, a performance-based approach released on October in 2012, set in motion the establishment of a new business environment for LDCs.

The RFFE report states that:

"The Board committed to continuous improvement within the electricity sector.  The Board's policies for setting distributor rates, as outlined below, are supported by fundamental principles of good asset management, coordinated long-term planning, and a common set of performance, including productivity expectations.  This evolution has created a new standard to which of what a continuously improving sustainable business operation should be, and this business environment is much different than in 2011, when we prepared for the last cost-of-service rate application."

Further increases in OM&A will largely depend on how the new fresh evolves.  However, I think the building blocks had been set in place in this current application and Grimsby Power, with the additional resources provided, with the increase in OM&A, will be well-positioned to maintain a more consistent level of OM&A spend, particularly over the next rate rebasing period.

So in summary, and in the context of our last rebasing, I think we have stuck to our plans, as they have arisen in each of the four years for rebasing four years past.  Increasing demands for resources and additional expenses are being fuelled by customer expectations, customer growth, succession planning requirements, technological advancement, increasing regulatory requirements, and changes to our operating environment due to government intervention.

We had planned for the future, and we have made sure the outcome in terms of rates are not out of step with our nearest LDC neighbours.  We firmly believe that our proposal provides just and reasonable rates.

Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, because we've really combined panels 2 and 3 for both OM&A and the effective date of the rates, I'm just going to ask Mr. Curtiss a couple of questions about the effective date of his proposed rates --


MS. DUFF:  Please do.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- as well.  Thank you.

Mr. Curtiss, perhaps you could tell the Board what you are requesting as an effective date for your rates?

MR. CURTISS:  So we have requested in this rate application for rates effective May 1st, 2016, all the while maintaining our January 1st rate year, which was set during the last proceeding.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Seeing as we're now in July, what are you proposing for the May 1st to -- for the period of May 1st to whenever the implementation date of your new rate order would be?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  So we filed our application late in December 23rd of two-15, asking for rates effective May 1st, and what we would request is that we create a rider for the incremental revenue from May 1st, at the implementation date -- from the implementation date of the two-16 order, whenever that may become effective -- not effective, but implemented.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And --


MR. CURTISS:  And we still want to maintain the January to December rate year.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, can you tell the Board anything about why you filed in December?

MR. CURTISS:  There are many reasons for being late.  The main reason, as you are aware from this morning's discussions, we did amalgamate with Niagara West Transformation Corporation.  We received a decision, I believe it was in March of 2015.  It took us until the October 1st date in two-15 to get all of the necessary legal documents together, et cetera, et cetera, so that we could actually combine the two companies and start the legal -- the new legal entity based upon October the 1st.

We did not want to file an application before that effective date took place, because we felt that that would have made for a very complicated situation where we weren't technically amalgamated at the time of our submission, so we definitely wanted to wait until that actually transpired, that transaction.

On a secondary note, as we did wait that long, there are always complications.  We had November 1st rates to work into all of our models, and there was a couple of other things.  It was a wholesale market charge and things like that that required us to update models, so it took us some time to work through that process and make sure they were accurate and create the final -- final application for December 23rd.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And as a January filer -- or maybe I can put it differently:  Since you are asking that you retain your January to December rate year, what happens to those -- to the incremental revenue from January to May?

MR. CURTISS:  So we've stated in our application -- and I believe there is an interrogatory in this as well -- we have stated that we will forgo, if you will, the revenue that would have normally been generated with an application filed on time from January 1 to May 1st.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Mr. Curtiss.

MS. DUFF:  First up, Mr. Rubenstein, from Schools.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, I've prepared a compendium of documents.  I don't know if the panel has it yet.

MS. DUFF:  Uh-hmm.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They do?  If we can mark that as an exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  SECC COMPENDIUM

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Before we begin I just wanted to follow up on something that was said during your examination-in-chief.

Has the Board declared your rates interim?

MR. CURTISS:  No, they have not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

I want to know -- I want to start at page 2 of the compendium.  This is your Appendix 2J form that was filed at the interrogatory stage, and I just want to make sure we are coming from the same set of numbers for our discussion, and I just want to make sure, what you're seeking Board approval for is an OM&A number for the 2016 test year of $3,925,363.  Three-nine-two-five-three-six-three.  Am I correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's unchanged from your original application filed in December.  Am I correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that forecast budget for 2016 still accurate?

MR. CURTISS:  Due to timing differences there may be some small changes based on where we are in the year.  There were certain assumptions made for the test year, and some of those assumptions be will be inaccurate at this point in time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand?  Do you expect at the end of 2016 to spend -- you know, if the Board gives you the approvals that you are seeking, to spend roughly $3,925,000?

MR. CURTISS:  It will be less than that due to timing with new hires.

The predominant part of our increase as you -- as we have stated it, are basically based on human resources and we have not procured all those resources to date.  And therefore, there are many positions in there from January 1 to the end of December and those timings are going to be off because of the hiring.  So there will be some slight differences.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can you tell me what your expectation of what that difference will be?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we haven't worked out that value.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, we can do that.

MS. DUFF:  To the extent there are some actuals baked into that, could you just -- is it a complete new forecast, or is it based on like five months actuals and seven months forecasted?  If you could just make sure you include that as well.

MR. CURTISS:  No problem.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  From what you're saying and as I understand, you're seeking $3,925,000.  But it's your view that you won't actually spend that in the 2016 test year.

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain to me why you believe a request for roughly $3.925 million is reasonable?

MR. CURTISS:  It is -- as I stated earlier and as we've stated in our application, we have consulted with customers and we have a detailed succession planning analysis and forward-looking resource requirement outlook, and we believe that the resources that we have placed inside of our 2016 test year budget are reasonable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think we're maybe missing each other.  From what I understood of your testimony, you will not spend the money that you're asking for.  And my question is: Why is the amount that you're asking for then still appropriate?

MR. CURTISS:  We haven't had the opportunity to normalize costs in our budget due to the timing of this proceeding.  So this is basically a timing issue and nothing else.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What do you mean --


MR. CURTISS:  There has been no opportunity to refile that evidence, as this was an outstanding issue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's break that down into two things.  First, there was no time to file.  Can you explain?  I mean, you filed only two weeks ago an update to your PILs request.

So can you explain to me why there's been no time to provide an update to your OM&A budget for 2016?

MR. CURTISS:  I said it was an unsettled issue and it was not something we focused on.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.

MS. DUFF:  We need a transcript undertaking for that one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I apologize.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to -- so that will be undertaking JT1.1.  And if we can just clarify for record what it is.

MR. CURTISS:  My understanding of the undertaking was what that they would provide what they actually expect to spend in 2016, and provide an explanation of how they derived that amount.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE WHAT THEY ACTUALLY EXPECT TO SPEND IN 2016, AND PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF HOW THEY DERIVED THAT AMOUNT.


MR. CURTISS:  I would like to clarify that with one point.  Our 2016 test year budget does normalized cost for a number of -- for two positions, and we would in the undertaking, because of the late nature of the proceeding, still require to normalize some of those costs over the rate proceeding.

So I would propose that this undertaking would include that normalization.

MS. DUFF:  It's your evidence how you provide the information and then the qualifiers that you need.

MR. CURTISS:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You raised a second point.  Can you explain what you men by normalizing the costs?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  So when we have -- I'll use one position as an example.  We plan to backfill for a retirement.  We have one -- in our test year budget, we have one year of overlap for succession planning purposes.

So the position that is the outgoing retirement -- the cost for the outgoing person, we have normalized over the rate period so that we can account for the fact that that retirement is taking place.  So the position being filled continues on in our rates, but the normalized cost falls out of our budget over the rate period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct you have filed a one year cost of service application?  This is not a custom IR or application, this is a one year cost of service application?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, we have, and we’ve included those normalized cost so that our budget is not overstated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, if we can turn back to page 2 of the compendium --


MS. FRANK:  I just want to clarify what you said. So in the case of that person, what you are actually going to incur in 2016 is the full cost for the person who is retiring, a full year's cost for that individual, and whatever portion of the year that you've got the new candidate for, you will have the cost.

I assume you're normalizing the person that's retired and I want to understand, does that mean that you look at that cost and you charge one-fifth of it for each of the years, or do you totally take it out?  What do you for do for normalizing?

MR. CURTISS:  Using my example, we normalize it as one-fifth.

MS. FRANK:  One-fifth, okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just for reference for the Panel, and you can confirm this, I believe the specific numbers for this issue is JT1.14 where you -- there were two positions, is my understanding, where you've normalized it and the difference is $86,000, roughly, between what you've baked into your budget versus what you actually expect to incur in 2016?  That's the difference?  This is the normalized difference?

MR. CURTISS:  I believe what we provided in the undertaking was the annual -- the non-normalized cost, so the costs that were actually incurred with those positions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we can go to it.  It is JT--


MR. CURTISS:  In other words, all we did --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let's look at the numbers here.  You've shown in one, the first column, the normalized expenses for 2016, the rate -- the second column is the non-normalize.

In my quick math, that's a roughly $86,000 difference.  That's what you are talking about with respect to the normalizing?

MR. CURTISS:  Right.  So you're taking normalized cost, multiplied by five if it is one-fifth, for example. That is all that is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Going back to page 2 of the compendium here, as I read page 2, based your request for the 2016 budget, that is a 34.5 percent increase over how much you spent in 2015; am I correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we look back at the Board-approved numbers from 2012, that's a 63 percent.

MR. CURTISS:  That's also correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if we go to page 4 of the compendium, this is from your 2012 cost -- your 2012 rates application -- and we look at what you got approved in 2006 -- do you see that number?  We take what you're requesting in this application, we go back all the way to 2006, would you accept that that's a 260 percent increase?

It is more than two and a half times your OM&A cost in 2006 that you had approved?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you talked about your last rate case during your examination in-chief and I want to talk to you about that for a moment.

So my understanding from the decision is that the Board provided with you an approval of about $2,275,000 for OM&A.  Is that your understanding, about 2.4 million?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, 2.4.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And there was a small reduction that they took in that decision.  I believe it was only about $100,000.

MR. CURTISS:  75,000, as I recall, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understand, and you discussed This, that the rationale for the large increase was that, Mr. Curtiss, you had come to the utility in 2010 and it was your view that the company was essentially not up to snuff.  It wasn’t doing the processes, health and safety, things that we would expect a proper utility to run.

There were material deficiencies that you saw that needed to be corrected.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CURTISS:  That's fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 9 of the compendium -- sorry, if we move to page 10 of the compendium, I apologize.  Page 9 of the decision.  The Board agrees with you, and I'm just going to road what the Board says.  It says:

"While the percentage increase OM&A proposed by Grimsby for 2012 is considerably higher than its historic levels, the Board finds the evidence compelling to justify a significant increase in OM&A.  Grimsby has proven its case for the increase in staff and additional funds to enable the utility to operate in a sustainable manner and to adopt standard utility practice, which were found to be previously lacking.  The Board accepts there is a need to address -- a need to be addressed as identified by Grimsby."

Do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we turn to the next page on page 10, below the bullet points, the Board says:

"The Board finds that it's -- that this is a significant increase, approximately 26 percent over 2010 actuals, but one necessary to ensure the appropriate operation of the distributor."

Do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the Board provided you essentially with the funds you needed to get the utility in working order; correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now you are seeking -- and that was a 26 percent increase, correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you've agreed with me that your increase now is from -- that was 26 over two years, and your increase from the last year in this case is 35 -- 34.5 percent; correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we turn to page 23 of that compendium, this is from your testimony in that proceeding.  Sorry, 23 of the -- I apologize, page 19 of the compendium, page 23 of the transcript.  I want to read from you.  This is at the bottom of the page.  Mr. Sidlofsky asks you:

"And Mr. Curtiss, finally, if the Board grants your request -- increase in OM&A, are you anticipating similar increases in coming years?"

Mr. Curtiss, you respond:

"The objective of our 2012 budget was to identify tasks, activities, and service levels which would allow Grimsby Power to operate at a sustainable level.  The result, increase in costs, is significant, but I believe it represents the accurate accounting of where Grimsby Power needs to be provided that the utility environment is stable through the next four years.  I would not anticipate any increases of this magnitude in the years to follow."

Do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in 2012 the Board gives you 26 percent over 2012 actuals, and now you are asking for 34.5 percent over your last year's actuals.  Can you square that with what you told the Board where you essentially said, We're not going to be asking for these large increases again.

MR. CURTISS:  Well, I think I qualified my point by saying if the environment is a stable environment.  We've had, in my opinion, that the environment has changed considerably.  We have all sorts of new customer expectations, surveys, we're trying to integrate customer  -- our customer services as per customer requirements.  We are going through a period of technological change.  We have more retirements to do with this time around, so there's more succession-planning issues.

The regulatory environment, we haven't seen any less work that's been derived out of that.  There is more and more data required.  There is more and more processes required to accommodate certain things.  You know, the Board has been out doing audits with some utilities, not us, and found processes to be less than adequate, so we are trying to make a proposal for -- to allow us to maintain all of that infrastructure and those requirements, which in today's environment, with the complement of staff that we have right now, I don't think that we can be as successful with that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You said -- and maybe I misunderstood you -- you said a Board audit found that your processes --


MR. CURTISS:  Not with us.  I am saying I have heard that the Board has been out doing you audits of utilities of their various processes, and that they have found certain deficiencies in those processes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I understood from your examination in-chief and -- that you weren't before -- before the last rate application, but you are now, you're operating in a sustainable manner that adopts standard utility practices.

That was a problem last time.  You got the funds and you now are doing that?

MR. CURTISS:  I think my reference from the past, if we go back to the last application, is more based on the operation of the utility, not specifically with respect to the regulatory environment, but with respect to processes within a utility to operate and maintain the distribution system.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand. I'm referring to that.  Are you now doing that?

MR. CURTISS:  We are struggling to do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you came to the Board.  You had a plan to get the utility in a sustainable manner, and I'm just trying to understand:  Are we there yet?

MR. CURTISS:  We're not there yet.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We're not there yet.

MR. CURTISS:  Definitely not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are not running the utility in a sustainable manner that adopts standard utility practices.

MR. CURTISS:  We are from an operations point of view, but I don't believe that we can keep up with the reporting requirements, regulatory requirements, going forward under the new RRFE.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to -- I'm not talking about what's going to happen in the future, 20 --


MR. CURTISS:  But I am, because the rate period --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand.

MR. CURTISS:  -- is 2016 to 2020 --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand you're asking that, but I just want to focus this question on just today.  Are you operating your utility in a sustainable manner that adopts standard utility practices?

MR. CURTISS:  Yeah, I believe we are for the most part, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And to get you to that from where you were before, where you were operating the utility in an unsustainable manner that didn't do that, it took an increase in 26 percent over two years, and now to get you into the new regulatory environment as you're talking about and, you know, going forward, you think it's going to -- it needs almost a 35 percent increase over your last year; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Based on the plans that we've submitted, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, if we can turn to page 23.  I just want to clarify something.  You were asked in this interrogatory to provide a list of measurable outcomes that ratepayers can expect the applicant to achieve during the test year and to explain how those outcomes are incremental and commensurate with the increases you are seeking.

And you say a lot of things.  Obviously it is a detailed interrogatory.  The question I have is what you have said on the -- at the end, on page 25 at the bottom.

You say -- this is the last sentence:

"For these reasons Grimsby Power disagrees that the increase in OM&A can be somehow classified as incremental and all incremental increases need to  be incrementally tied to specific outcomes and measures."

I just want to -- so is this -- unpack this for a second.  So is it in Grimsby's view that your OM&A increases are not incremental?

MR. CURTISS:  The answer to this question is with respect to tying incremental increases to incremental improvements.  And I simply stated that I -- I don't agree that we can attach, for this increase in expense, we can attach this increase in productivity in this area or that area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just breaking this down into different parts, the first question is, is it Grimsby's view that the OM&A increases are not incremental?

MR. CURTISS:  Okay, they are incremental to what they are now, sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then it's Grimsby's view that those incremental increases are simply just -- you can't tie them to specific outcomes and measures?

MR. CURTISS:  No, I didn't say that.  What I am saying is that you can't tie specific dollar amounts to specific initiatives and productivity improvements one-to-one.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me, because you talked about the RRFE and you talked about the new regulatory environment, and it seems to me that part of that is looking at outcomes, so how is the Board supposed to judge your request if you can't tie your incremental OM&A requests to outcomes and measures?

MR. CURTISS:  We have outcomes and measures.  We have a scorecard.  We have a very detailed company performance measurement program.  We have all of the measurements on a scorecard in terms of reliability, first contact resolution, you know, the whole gamut of measures that we're trying to keep up with.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when the Board talks about outcomes, that's what you think it means?  It means the stuff -- essentially the metrics and the things that are contained in the Board's scorecard?


MR. CURTISS:  That's part of it.  Not all of it, but part of it.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is the other part?


MR. CURTISS:  The other part is their own measurements for performance-related criteria.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All you need to justify before the Board, though, is that incremental OM&A somehow links itself to those outcomes that are set out in the -- in the Board's scorecard and your internal outcomes?


MR. CURTISS:  I'm not sure I understand your question.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I asked you what the outcomes were.


MR. CURTISS:  Mm hmm.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is it your view that all you need to demonstrate is that the incremental OM&A that you are seeking ties to those outcomes in the Board's scorecard, and then you referenced you had other outcomes that are company outcomes.


MR. CURTISS:  I think it relates to the outcomes, but it also relates to the justification for the differences in costs that we presented in our report -- in our application.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if the Board can't look at an Incremental amount of OM&A you are seeking and tie to that directly to an outcome, how can the Board and the parties and the ratepayers assess the value of money that they're getting for those costs?


MR. CURTISS:  I'm not sure the industry is evolved enough where the customer can actually figure all that out.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Put aside the customer and the Board.


MR. CURTISS:  We've presented our case.  We've presented the reasons why we -- where the cost drivers are and those costs that are included in those incremental increases will support the four RRFE objectives.  And that will be measured partly by the scorecard, and partly by the customer satisfaction surveys, and everything else that we do to maintain that contact with the customer and the stakeholders.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we turn to page 26 of the compendium?  We had asked you in 1-SEC-8 to provide details about what incremental productivity initiatives the applicant plans to undertake in the test year, and you refer us back to 1-SEC-6 and I just want to make sure I'm understanding what you are referring to me to, because obviously that was a different question.


Am I correct that what you actually want us to look at is on page 24, in the second -- well, in the first full paragraph.  About two-thirds of the way down, it says:

"Grimsby Power is committed to continually improving its operations and has provided detailed evidence on its efforts in Exhibit 1, pages 68 through 81.  These efficiency productivity improvements have a direct impact on the outcomes from its customers."

Is that the link that you were sending me to?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we -- and if we go to page 27 and 28 of the compendium, I think this is the part of that large block of evidence you sent me to, and I just wanted to confirm.  This is where you talk about the efforts to achiever cost reductions and productivity in improvements in the test year, am I correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go through them -- I just want to ask you about them.  If we go through them, each of them talk about Grimsby Power will continue to do something.  You say:

"Grimsby Power will continue to utilize just-in-time delivery to manage store and material levels.  Grimsby Power will continue to purchase materials through its alliance agreement with local vendors.  Grimsby Power will continue to offer and promote e-billing to maintain the potential increase in the number of customers using the billing option.  The efficiency and productivity improvements process in Grimsby Power's engineering operation departments as noted will continue.”


Number 5 talks about a specific capital asset, and then in number 6:

"Grimsby Power will continue to automate payment processes for vendors, reducing the need for manual payment in cheques."

Do you see that?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So these improvements, it seems you’re just continuing something that you’ve already put in place.  And the question asked, and I want to know:  What incremental things are you doing in the test year to drive further productivity improvements?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't believe we have identified any.  I think my answer to that would be that meeting all the requirements of the application process takes time to execute and -- is our application and our response to all these questions perfect?  No, it isn't.

We still have much work to do and we will continue to do so, and I know we haven't identified any particular productivity improvements, other than continuing on with -- we haven’t identified any new ones.

But that will be something in the next five years that we'll have to bring front and centre and create a process to do that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you about your response to 1-Staff-4, and this is on page 29 of the compendium.


You were essentially asked how you met the filing guidelines to discuss your proposals in the application with your customers, and the proposed costs and benefits.


And your response is -- and this is in part (a) -- your response is:

"Grimsby Power did not engage in any customer engagement activities with respect to its proposed application."

Do you see that?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on the next page, you list a bunch of other -- your assessment of other utilities' customer engagement processes; do you see that?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you go on page 31 to say, this is the beginning of the first full paragraph:

"With its late filing, Grimsby Power was faced with a decision to organize and perform its customer engagement activities to meet the filing requirements, or to proceed and file the application without this step.  Based on informal inquiries with industry peers and the information provided above, this customer engagement activity was in many cases not that informative."


In some, certainly not in all cases.  Do you see that?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then if you go down to the next paragraph, the one after that, you say -- sorry, let me just ask you about that.


So my understanding is what you've done is you essentially ran out of time.  You wanted to file your application and you were already late, so you decided you would not do any customer engagement activities as required by the filing guidelines with respect to this application.  Is that correct?


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why should the Board approve any rate increase if you have not met the filing guidelines?  Why shouldn't the Board just send you back and say come back once you've met the requirements to meet with customers and provided their input on the application?


MR. CURTISS:  Well, first of all, the Board didn't do that.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm asking you why shouldn't they.


MR. CURTISS:  Well, I would expect that to happen at the outset of the application, if it wasn’t -- didn't meet the requirements.  This is one requirement of many.

I personally don't feel that presenting this application to a limited number of customers has much value.  It’s certainly not statistically valid.  If you hold an open house and you get -- and ten people show up, yes, it's information, but the validity of that information is certainly not statistically valid.


It was a decision we made because we were late, as you said, and it does take some time to fulfill, you know, all the requirements to the degree that would be fulsome in every aspect.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  How do you think your customers would think if they are listening and they heard that Grimsby Power's view was we need to get our rate application so we can have our rate increase as soon as possible, and because of that we'll forego our customer engagement activities?  How do you think they'd think about that?  Do you think they'd be supportive of that?


MR. CURTISS:  We forewent one part of the customer engagement.  We can engage our customer thoroughly in the production rate application.  We did two surveys, statistically valid surveys, and that has informed this application extensively.


Customers have an opportunity to intervene, or intervene through intervenors who represent private interests of our customer base, so they are not completely out of the loop here.


In many aspects, I think -- and I'm referring to some of the town halls and stuff that took place in the other utilities.

The feedback from these sessions is very similar from one to the next.  Customers obviously are concerned about the cost, they are concerned about their reliability, and I think those things are common to most applications, and I don't -- I don't think that we would have heard much different, frankly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you didn't think it was appropriate to ask your customers, are you willing, for example, to have a 35 percent increase in OM&A and there will be these benefits, versus potentially getting a lower -- would they rather have a lower increase and having, you know, an offsetting -- some sort of offsetting decrease in service?

MR. CURTISS:  We ask in our distribution plans -- distribution plan survey if customers are willing to pay $5 more per month, if we could maintain an increased reliability and the services that provide, and we had a high percentage of agreement with that statement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we go down on the page on 31 you say:

"Although Grimsby Power did not perform this customer engagement activity, it knew that customers would have a full access to the application, full opportunity to provide input through the interrogatory process."

So I take it that your view that the interrogatory process is a way for customers to provide input on your application for you to consider?

MR. CURTISS:  I think they have opportunity, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, it goes without saying, I guess, that -- and am I correct that you made no changes to your OM&A request after seeing the interrogatory process?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we didn't.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I'm sorry?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

I want to look at page 33.  This is your cost driver table, and I think you talked about some of this stuff in your examination in-chief.  And as I look at it, the majority of your cost increases from 2015 to 2016 are related to new staff, compensation.  I think you called this the human-resources issues.  Am I correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 32, this is your 2K form.  Sorry, my mistake.  Yes.  34.  This is your 2K, and you are going from 2015, 19.48 FTEs, to 25.15 in 2016.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a 29 percent increase in head count in one year; do you accept that?

MR. CURTISS:  Subject to check, yeah.  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to talk to you about that for a second.  If we turn to page 35 in interrogatory 4, VECC 34, you were asked, part (b):

"How many of the forecasts at 25.16 FTE positions are currently vacant?"

And you provide your response, all the positions that were currently vacant.  Do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if I look at the bottom one, you'd say you have a journeyman or journeyman-apprentice, two FTEs, that you have not hired yet; do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What have you forecasted?  Are you forecasting in your rates a journeyman or a journeyman-apprentice?

MR. CURTISS:  In our rates we have a journeyman-apprentice in our 24- to 36-month classification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So built in is the cost for a journeyman-apprentice?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we look at the response in part (b), I see you have 7.21 spots vacant; am I correct?  Or at least at the time of this interrogatory response.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And have you filled any of those positions as of today?

MR. CURTISS:  Not as of this time.  I need to qualify that.  Some of these positions, because we have such a large increase, we weren't going to fill until we got approval.  We obviously only have so much cash to go around, and if we fulfilled all of this without having the revenue requirement which is supported, I don't imagine we'd have any net income left over, so we purposely put off some of them.  I mean, as this proceeding is in the place it is at this point in time, we've continued to delay that.

We have advertised and received applications and actually done some interviewing for some of these positions, the journeyman for one, but we have not yet hired in any of these categories.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So shouldn't the Board right off the bat remove from your budgeted amount one half, representing at least up until July 1st, and I guess now more, of these costs related to these seven positions?

MR. CURTISS:  No, I believe that would need to be normalized.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me ask you:  In your -- for 2016 -- this is a 2016 year budget; am I correct?  This is a budget for 2016 you are seeking in this application.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's rates for 2016.  And with respect to your 2016 request, shouldn't the Board, based on what you've said you're going to -- you haven't filled for at least the first six months of the year -- the very least, your 2016n budget should be reduced to represent one half of the cost of these 7.21 positions.

MR. CURTISS:  No, I would say not, because the budget is built based on normalized values, and we would want to normalize, so say, for example, we decided to hire Jan. 1, two-17.  We would want to normalize that cost four-fifths, as opposed to full freight, so that over the course of the rate period we are not overstating our cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain to me why the Board should -- why there should be normalizing.  You filed the 2016 year cost-of-service application.  You haven't filed a custom IR that spans multiple years.  You're setting rates for one year.  Can you explain why the Board should -- why there should be any normalizing?

MR. CURTISS:  Within each rate-basing period we have a certain amount of OM&A to work with, and the rate rebasing process allows us to have step increases between one period and the next.  And I think that's a function of the rate rebasing process.

So we would year up in the rate -- test year with the positions that we thought necessary for the next period.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you aware of any other distributors who are coming for a cost-of-service application that have taken that view about how to set the test-year budget, that it's a single one-year test year?

MR. CURTISS:  Well, there are a number of costs, previous applications that are normalized, so we're just applying that principle.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question is:  Are you aware of a single other distributor that, in setting their test-year cost, are taking your view that you should look at the full five-year period and normalize, versus you take a look at your costs in 2016 since it's a 2016 year application you're seeking?

MR. CURTISS:  Not as a whole, but I'll restate:  I think the normalizing process has been used in the past for various costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if we take a look at where your FTEs are now versus your request, and if we could turn to page 42 of the compendium, this is your response to the Energy Probe oral-hearing clarification question number 2, where I see you are by June 27th.  You are at 17.94 FTEs.  Do I get that correctly?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you are actually below what you had in every year beginning in -- besides 2012 -- sorry -- yes, you are below even the amount that you had in 2012.  Do I get that -- do I understand that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, you're correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And yet you're still seeking the full amount for -- the full complement amount for -- of 25.16 for 2016; correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's right, during any given year you have -- staff retire, staff move on, and any given point in time you could be short one or two people.  It takes time to staff up those -- back those positions that were -- previously existed.

Currently we have a design tech and director asset management vacancy.  They are currently being recruited.  So this number doesn't include those vacancies, so this is all about timing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You build in a vacancy rate.  There is a turnover in all companies.  Is that what you're talking about?


MR. CURTISS:  I haven't built in any vacancy rate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you accept to me that there will be vacancies?


MR. CURTISS:  From time to time throughout the year, there will be vacancies from the point in time when one person leaves until one person starts, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you didn't build that into your budget?


MR. CURTISS:  There is no accommodation for that anybody inside our budget.  We don't know when somebody leaves.  There are many reasons why people leave; they move to another utility, et cetera, et cetera.


And so we don't predict things that are basically anomalies that we have no knowledge of.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you do build in budgets when you know you won’t have those employees for the full year?


 MR. CURTISS:  We don’t know when the vacancies are, so we -- you know, how are we to know that there’s going to be a vacancy in any given year.  We don’t know that.  We budget for that position for twelve months with the expectation that it will be fulfilled for twelve months.


But from time to time, there are unannounced -- people move on and you don’t get notice.  You get two weeks notice and -- you know, the recruiting period, as I stated in, I think, in another part of this, it was on average about three months.


So yes, you do have vacancies from time to time, but they are not permanent vacancies.  They are temporary.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn back to page 34 quickly.  This is the 2K form and I just want to understand.  You see this in the cost driver at table 2.  We're seeing significant increases in management salary and wages in 2015 and 2016 versus your historic amounts.


Is that driven just strictly on the basis of the amount of employees, or is the actual -- are we seeing increases over historic levels in the actual compensation amounts paid to executives and management?


MR. CURTISS:  As stated in our application in 2012, we rebased all of our management salaries to bring them to a level that was competitive with the rest of the market.  So we're -- as is stated in the application, we're basing our management compensation on the MEARIE survey in the 20K customer class and under, based on the P50 marker, and that was effective January 1, 2012.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I could ask you to turn to page 46 of the compendium?  I want to understand.  I think you talked about this in your examination, about how you do versus your budget.


And Staff asked you, or you provided on page 47 a chart showing your OM&A budget versus your actuals.  So when I see budgets for 2013, 2014 or 2015, am I correct that that is your internal budget since you didn't -- you don't have a Board-approved per se in those years?


MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I see your response, in 2013,2014, and 2015, you came underneath your budget?

 MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MRE. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you better.  You were doing -- you are getting better as time goes on.  Do I see that correctly?

So 1.3, then you were 4.8 percent, and then you were almost 10 percent in 2015.  Am I correct?


MR. CURTISS:  I wouldn't say better; consistent, maybe.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't -- it doesn't look like consistent numbers.  They are moving in one direction.  We were talking about this, I thought, during your examination as a positive.  I guess maybe --


MR. CURTISS:  Which I think there is.  To come, you know, 1.3 percent within OM&A budget with all the variables that we have to deal with, I think that's an awesome result.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But then in 2014, you are almost 5 percent.


 MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then in 2015, you are almost 10 percent.


MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it looks to me that you just actually -- you’re just over budgeted.  Am I correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Our OM&A metrics are based -- our target is plus or minus 5.  I don’t think that’s over or under budgeting.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for 2016, where do you think you’re going -- well, I guess we'll find out.  But why should the Board look at your 2016 budget and think that the trend isn't going to continue?  We’re going to get higher than 10 percent reduction?


MR. CURTISS:  Well, in the bridge year, there was reasons for that.  We weren't able to fill one of the positions that's on our vacancy list here.  And we also have, you know, the difference between the Niagara West -- we only have three months' worth of cost there as opposed to twelve months.


So I would guess that in 2016, with the full cost of Niagara West in there, we would be closer.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you help me understand the Niagara West?  I would have assumed that you would have taken that into account in your budget setting process, when those costs with come in.  Am I incorrect about that?


MR. CURTISS:  The budget for the 2015 bridge year is built with twelve months of Niagara West.


We anticipated that we would amalgamate much in advance of when we actually did amalgamate, so the budget contains all of the cost for twelve months.  So that contributes to the larger percent variance in that particular category versus actual.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we had the Niagara West.  You said you had an employee that you had a vacancy that year. So now we've got seven vacancies.  How far are we going to come under budget -- do you have a rough sense? -- this year in 2016 versus your requested amount.


MR. CURTISS:  I don't have that answer right now.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Let me ask you to turn to page 50, starting at 49 and going through 54, and this was a -- you were asked -- this is the latest update to a set of tables that you’ve provided showing your rates versus -- I think you talked about that this is what you believe is your cohort utilities that you compare yourself with.


MR. CURTISS:  I didn't say our cohort; I said our neighbours.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, my apologies.  So this is your neighbour -- looking at the neighbourhood utilities, how you compare versus them in terms of ranking and then rates.  Do I get that correctly?


MR. CURTISS:  That's right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And we don't know what the 2016 rankings are.  The rankings are -- sorry.  The rankings are all LDCs in the province, am I correct?  That’s where you see --


MR. CURTISS:  Yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We don’t know where these utilities and where you are going to rank at the end of 2016.  We only know up to 2015, right?


MR. CURTISS:  Right.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So we don't know, with the taking into account this application, how things will play out, correct?


MR. CURTISS:  That’s correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your 2016 actual -- the monthly numbers that you are presenting, am I correct that it -- is that based on your application numbers?


MR. CURTISS:  Amy, can you answer that?


 MS. LA SELVA:  I believe those are rates after settlement.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So these are after settlement?


MS. LA SELVA:  I would have to check it, but that's my belief.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Well, my own numbers, when I do the rough calculation based on the rates you provide in the settlement on page 48, would come up to a slightly different number.  So that's why I'm assuming that it is at least pre -- page 48.  I've taken this directly out of the settlement proposal that was filed with the Board.


So when I do the math, I get slightly different numbers.


Maybe we can take an undertaking to confirm where you’re getting those numbers from, if you’re unable to do it now?  I don’t know.


MS. FRANK:  Mr. Rubenstein, what does slightly different look like?  Is it worth an undertaking?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fair enough.  I get -- instead of 32.23 for 2016 Grimsby, I get 32.10 for residential.


MS. FRANK:  And you think that difference might justify an undertaking?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just wanted to confirm, so we know Where the number -- the point in time the numbers.  I'm not asking to re-do the table.  I mean, if they can't do it now --


MS. La SELVA:  Sorry, Mark, I just looked at page 50 again.  This is from the clarifying questions, your page 50, is that correct?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MS. DOMOKOS:  On the top.


MS. LA SELVA:  Right.


MS. DOMOKOS:  On the top.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it would be right before Settlement?


 MS. LA SELVA:  Correct.


 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, no undertaking needed.  We have solved the mystery here.


Would I be correct, then, that if this was before settlement, the numbers after settlement would be slightly lower and I -- the numbers that I get when I use the numbers from the table 9, 32.10 for residential, 73.53 for GS under 50, $1,081.91 for GS over 50; would you take that, subject to check?


MS. La SELVA:  Subject to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And would you agree then they would be slightly higher based on your -- the PILs evidence update?  Maybe a -- we're talking slightly.

MS. La SELVA:  Slightly, subject to check, I guess.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  That's fine.  I just want to understand where we are directionally.

So if we look at the 2016 numbers and the cost of 800 for a residential customer, 800 kilowatt hours, you were the lowest of your neighbours in 2015; do I understand that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And now in 2016, if we move to the 2016, based on your proposals, you will be surpassed by Horizon, Welland, and Niagara-on-the-Lake; do you accept that?

MR. CURTISS:  And Hydro One.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, you will -- no.  Your rates will now be higher than Horizon, Welland, and Niagara-on-the-Lake.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In 2016.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, Welland as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I thought -- yes.  Horizon, Welland, Niagara-on-the-Lake.

All right.  And if we go to the GSO (sic) under 50 category you're still the -- I still see that you will be the number one.  But if we go over to the GS over 50 category, you're now going to be -- your lower rates will now be Welland, Horizon, Niagara-on-the-Lake, and Niagara Peninsula.  Do I get that right?

MR. CURTISS:  I believe so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain how -- so it seems like you are getting worse.  You're not actually continuously improving.  You may have been number 1 in the past with respect to your neighbours, but you are actually getting worse.  Can you help me there?  How does that support your application for this large increase?

MR. CURTISS:  I think I would answer that by saying that we think we understand what our customers need, and our application is built around fulfilling those needs, and just because we're a low-cost utility, maybe we're not providing the same service as those other utilities who are getting more revenue per se.

The -- it's almost like we're disadvantaged, because we are a low-cost utility in some respects.

So all we're trying to do here, we're making our case to move forward.  It's going to cost this much.  We did our check to make sure that our resultant rates were not out of step with other local utilities, and that has formed the basis of our application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when I look at residential and GS over 50, your rate increased from 2015 to 2016, if not the highest, must -- is one of the highest jumps of any year for any utility on these sheets, in the -- for your neighbouring utilities in the period that we're talking about, 2011 to 2016.

Can you help me understand how -- why the Board should approve that?

MR. CURTISS:  Your argument is based on the premise that every utility should operate in an envelope.  As I stated before, we created just reasons why we need the increase in OM&A, and that OM&A has resulted in these rates.  These rates are not out of step with other utilities, and that is -- that is -- to me that's what just and reasonable rates are.  It is not about where you came from, because if we were severely disadvantaged before, as a low-cost utility maybe not providing the same service as some of our neighbours, there are reasons for that, and we need that OM&A to meet those customer expectations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me go back one more question, if I could just circle back to the beginning of our discussion.  Is it still your view that a request of $3,925,000 is a reasonable request for 2016?

MR. CURTISS:  Based on the evidence provided and the resulting rates, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  I just had one question regarding these tables.  I just want to ensure -- sorry.  Perhaps I should know the answer, but Niagara Peninsula is not in here at all, right?  They are their own category, in terms of them being a customer of yours?

MR. CURTISS:  I'll just clarify.  They are a customer in terms of an embedded distributor --


MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  But they are not like a regular --


MS. DUFF:  They are not in these numbers.

MR. CURTISS:  -- power -- no.  No --


MS. DUFF:  That's --


MR. CURTISS:  -- they're not.  None --


MS. DUFF:  Thank --


MR. CURTISS:  -- of their customer base is in these numbers.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Well, next on the list was Mr. Aiken.  Do you have a preference to start now or -- we were planning to break at 3:15, but that's -- I've got you down for 75 minutes.  Do you want to start or not; it's your choice.

MR. AIKEN:  I can absolutely guarantee you, I will not be 75 minutes.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, that's good.

MR. AIKEN:  I might be closer to 15 --


MS. DUFF:  Oh.

MR. AIKEN:  -- after Mr. Rubenstein's cross.

MS. DUFF:  Well, then I think we will proceed if --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  -- that's okay with you.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Mr. Curtiss, I want to follow up with some of the responses you had with Mr. Rubenstein in your direct evidence earlier today, and I wrote down that you've referred to their rate rebasing period as 2016 to 2020, and yet this, as Mr. Rubenstein has indicated, this is a 2016 cost-of-service application.  And you mentioned that the normalizing approach has been used in other cases.

Were you referring to the normalization of regulatory costs for a rates application?

MR. CURTISS:  I was referring to that principle, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And do you know if that normalizing approach has been used for anything other than the costs associated with a rates application?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't have any references for that.  No.

MR. AIKEN:  And a couple of times you've referenced customer needs as a driver for the significant increase in the OM&A.  My question is:  What customer needs are you not fulfilling now?

MR. CURTISS:  Based on our customer survey, customers want more information, particularly surrounding outages.  They are getting very limited information right at the moment.  There are systems out there that would enable us to inform the customer in terms of outages, in terms of when an outage occurs, in terms of the duration of the outage, that type of thing.

Our customers have told us that they would like to speak to an actual representative, as opposed to getting a voice-mail or being put on hold.  That's part of the customer survey.

So for those two primary drivers, I think I've stated that in the application itself.

MR. AIKEN:  In terms of your metrics, both your internal and the Board metrics, are you outside of any -- are you failing to meet any of those metrics?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't believe there are any metrics for customer communication around outages.  However --


MR. AIKEN:  No, I'm talking about the metrics that the --


MR. CURTISS:  No, I understand.

MR. AIKEN:  -- Board established and the ones you have internally.

MR. CURTISS:  I understand.  The OEB scorecard, our scorecard, as the OEB would rather us refer to it, the -- our phone -- answering the phone within 30 seconds in 2015 was barely above the 65 percent minimum, and information we have in 2016 would maintain that level, so we are struggling with answering the phone, and under that metric, yes, is it within our standard, the OEB standard, yes, it is; however, we have been in the 80 percentile, and I'm sure customers have noticed the fact that, you know, they can't as often get a hold of us as quickly as they can, as in the past.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, I want to go back -- I'm going to be referring to the Energy Probe compendium once again, Exhibit K1.3.  And I'm looking at pages 1 and 2.  Page 1 is the original cost driver table, and page 2 is the updated cost driver table from 4-Energy Probe-21.

Now, the cost drivers in 2015 and '16 have changed on a line-by-line basis for each of the years, because the one on page 2 includes actuals for 2015.  But I found it curious that their level of expenditures in 2016 didn't change.


So when I looked at these numbers, I realized that your cost drivers are really cost drivers between 2014 and 2016; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So if you spent more or less in 2015, that changed the cost driver in 2016 because it's comparing to the same base in 2014.


MS. DOMOKOS:  The variance between 2015 and 2016 is catched on page number 2.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, as an example, if you look at the cable locate services in the original evidence, there was a cost increase of 39,603 in 2005 -- or 2015, rather, and a reduction of 11,924.  So when I add those two numbers together, I get an increase of 27,679 over 2014.


And then when I go to page 2, the increase is now $1,314 on an actual basis for 2015, and then a further 26,365 increase, and those two ad up to 27,679.  So the cost driver table is really 2014 to 2016, isn't that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  I believe this is as a result of the fact that we didn't change it all to 2016.  So the way we did the filing initially stayed the same.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, I want to look at a couple of individual line items on page 2, on the table at the top.


The first one is maintenance expenses transferred from regulatory accounts smart meter project. That is the $155,000 driver in 2012.  Two questions on that.


Were any of the costs that were transferred in 2012 from the regulatory account actually incurred in 2012, or were they all incurred previous to 2012?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So they were incurred before 2012.  So we have for the smart meter, if you recall when they were in the regulatory accounts, if you have any depreciation or any maintenance, or anything that belongs to smart meters, you have to keep in the regulatory accounts until you rebase.


So as soon as you rebase, you are allowed to move the smart meters from the regulatory account to the fixed assets, also to move the depreciation for that year to the expense.  And the maintenance, if you have any expenses for maintenance in operational, to move from the regulatory account to the P&L.


MR. AIKEN:  And were any of those smart meter -- sorry, were there any smart meter-related costs included in the 2012 Board-approved number?


MS. DOMOKOS:  In -- we have the decision from the Board to move as of January 1st, 2012.  We have to move everything what was sitting in the regulatory account, and it is when the transaction took place.


MR. AIKEN:  But in your last rebasing application, am I correct that there were no smart meter-related costs included under revenue requirement --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  -- because all of the costs were going into the deferral account?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Further down, there is a line that says "Use of recruiting and talent search specialist".  Was that a one time cost that was incurred in 2014?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that was for a -- yes, that is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, Niagara West, the MTS, I see an increase of 58,461 in 2015, and then 130,000 and change in 2016.


Does this mean that your all inclusive increase in cost for Niagara West is about 190,000?  Just add those two numbers together?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So the way that you have to look on this one, it is in 2015 we have NWTC expenses for three months.  So, that will drive the increase in the actual 2015.


In 2016, we'll have all that expenses for 12 months and moving forward, they will be 12 months.  It is only an exception for 2015 because we merged on October the 1st.


MR. AIKEN:  I understand that.  But my question was: Is your all in cost for Niagara West about 190,000 in the test year?  In other words, there isn't a cost driver that's related to Niagara West that's in one of these other line items?  Or is your total all in OM&A cost for Niagara West the sum of the 58 and the incremental 130,000 that you're showing in the cost driver table?


MS. DOMOKOS:  In this cost driver, we have strictly operational and maintenance that belongs to the station.  So I don't know if you are referring to any other expenses.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, beyond operating and maintenance, what administration cost would you have?


MS. DOMOKOS:  They will be in the administration, if there are any.


MR. AIKEN:  I guess that's my question.  Can you undertake to provide what your total all in OM&A cost related to the Niagara West MTS station is for the three months in 2005 and your forecast for 2016?


Because I seem to recall somewhere in your evidence it was like 210,000, and I'm trying to relate that to the number showing in your cost driver table.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that going to be done by way of Undertaking?


MR. AIKEN:  Just hang on a minute.  I've got -- what is this from?  In the VECC compendium -- which maybe I guess we should get marked, if I'm going to refer to it.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  VECC COMPENDIUM

MR. AIKEN:  On page 9 of the VECC compendium, it Shows -- at the top there's a table, "Summary of NWTC OM&A 2015 actuals and 2016 test year expenses."


And it shows for 2015, 64,576 and for the test year 217,738.  Are these the all inclusive numbers, operations, maintenance and administration?


MS. DOMOKOS:  I believe it is, but I have to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Will you take it, subject to check, that those are the actual numbers?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, I will.


MR. AIKEN:  Then finally on the cost driver table, the cost of service application cost -- and this is referred to on page 3 of the compendium as well, in response to 4 Energy Probe-23?


MS. DUFF:  Is that in your document?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, sorry.  I have my document in my hand so I automatically refer to it as "the document".


My question here is:  You indicate that your cost of service application costs for the 2012 application were just under $200,000 -- 198,000 and change.


But for accounting purposes, instead of amortizing that over five years, you expense it all in 2012; is that correct?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, over the four years.


MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, over the four years.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So if you had amortized it, it would be about 50,000 every year, rather than 200,000 in the one year?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.


Now, as I understand your evidence, you are forecasting slower growth in customers in 2016 than your average in the 2013 to 2015 period, is that correct?


MR. CURTISS:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Have you done any studies or calculations that show how much your OM&A costs change as a result of customer growth?


MR. CURTISS:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  Do you have any estimate of what the percentage change in your OM&A expenditures would be for a 1 percent change in the number of customers?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we don't.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, in Table 4-5 -- that's on page 2 of the Energy Probe compendium, so this is the second table on page 2 -- what I see is driving the million-dollar increase is about $750,000 related to human resources, which is right at the bottom of the page.

And I just wanted to quickly look at the lines.  The first line is the management wages, incentives and benefits, and that's going up roughly 154,000.

Am I correct that that does not include new management positions?  That's just for the existing management?  Because the new management are shown a few lines down as additional staff.

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct, so it will be the position that are right now, so we don't have in that line anything that it's succession plan, so overlapping, and it's nothing about new position.

MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  And the same thing for the next line, the non-management wages, which is about an $85,000 increase.  That is for existing FTEs, does not include succession planning or additional staff, because that's highlighted in the following -- two lines further down.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, in the response to Undertaking JT1.9, which is on pages 17 and 18 of the Energy Probe compendium -- this is the year-to-date May comparison.  The one thing that stood out to me in this comparison is the annual tree-trimming by grid, and in the bullet point following the table it says "annual tree-trimming by grid":

"In 2015 tree-trimming was scheduled for December 2015.  Due to an issue with the contractor the project was not completed.  It was, however, carried into 2016.  2016 costs were incurred to complete tree-trimming for both years 2015 and '16."

So my question is:  How much of the $103,000 that you've incurred year-to-date May is for tree-trimming that you had originally planned to do in December of 2015?

MR. CURTISS:  Rough guess, it's about 50/50, but I'd have to check -- we'd have to check and get back to you on the split.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to verify that it is roughly 50/50?

MR. CURTISS:  Certainly.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We'll make that Undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH OF THE $103,000 THAT YOU'VE INCURRED YEAR-TO-DATE MAY IS FOR TREE-TRIMMING THAT YOU HAD ORIGINALLY PLANNED TO DO IN DECEMBER OF 2015.  ALSO:  TO ADVISE HOW MUCH IS IN YOUR 2016 REQUEST FOR OM&A.

MS. FRANK:  Could we add to that how much is in your 2016 request for OM&A?  Is it the 103 or is it whatever the portion that would have related to the work?  Like, I'm wondering, did you normalize this number?

MR. CURTISS:  We'll check.

MS. FRANK:  So part of that same undertaking, please.

MR. AIKEN:  And I just realized I missed a line back in Table 4-5.  So if you could go back to page 2 of the compendium.  And again, down at the bottom, under "human resources", where it says "new" -- sorry, "additional staff, new management FTE, wages, incentives, and benefits".

Is the increase there, which is about 30,000, is that for -- or does that reflect the full-time cost in 2016 of an individual that was -- or individual or individuals that were hired in 2015?  So you get the 104,000 in two-15, but on a full-year basis it is 134,000?

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, so this is not a variance from year to year.  It is exactly the amount that we spend for a new position in 2015, and we are also looking in 2016 to add a new position.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So it's a new position on --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- top of the new position in 2016.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then -- let me just check here.  The succession plan -- sorry I'm taking so long.  These numbers are very hard to read.  "Succession planned additional management staff, partial FTE", that shows it's going from nothing in 2015 to 183,000 in 2006.

Can you explain to me how that 183,000 is related to a partial FTE?  I would have thought it would have been at least 1 FTE, if not more.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So in the 2016 budget it was -- we have a part-time executive assistant put in the budget, and we have -- no, sorry.  So succession plan.  So that belongs to the customer account supervisor, new, and to the executive assistant.

In 2016 we have an overlapping for four months of the executive assistant, so we have the full year 2016, 12 months, an executive assistant, and it was overlapping in 2016 for four months.

MR. AIKEN:  So the existing executive assistant is shown in the succession plan and not in the -- any of the above lines that we just talked about, like management or non-management.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So in the management wages you will have the executive assistant that took the position for 12 months in 2016, and in the succession plan you will have the person who left after four months working in 2006.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I'm still confused as to how that works out to be $183,000.  If the existing --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Because -- okay.  So we have two position in discussion here.  So one, it's executive assistant, which was for four months in 2016, and we have another one, the new one, that it's 12 months, and then we have the customer account supervisor, which we are planning to replace the director of customer accounts, because she's retired too.  So we have two persons that are going to be retire in management.

MR. AIKEN:  So it is not really a partial FTE.

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, it's not.

MR. AIKEN:  It is multiple partial FTEs.

MS. DOMOKOS:  If you can to say so, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Before we break, I was just looking ahead.  Given you were less than 75 minutes, Mr. Aiken, Mr. Janigan, Mr. Stoll, are you prepared to proceed this afternoon?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, yes, Madam Chair.  And I will --


MS. DUFF:  Right answer.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- be less than an hour.

MS. DUFF:  Perfect.

MR. STOLL:  I'm ready, and I have, I think, two questions.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you two want to maybe sort out the order.  That's fine with me, but, good, it looks like we can proceed.  We're ahead of schedule.

And, okay.  We'll take a 15-minute break, a little bit more.  We'll be back at quarter to 4:00.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:46 p.m.
Procedural Matters:


MS. DUFF:  I wanted to deal with some preliminary matters, looking at the schedule and seeing where we are.

In particular, Mr. Janigan, Mr. Stoll, your estimates, just before we left would still -- could easily be done today and accommodated?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  That leaves us -- panel 3 has been removed as a separate item, because it's been combined with this one.

So just looking at this, Member Frank and I were just looking at perhaps we could cancel either Thursday or Friday, and just put the remaining things all in the one day.  And to that -- on that basis, actually I was going to ask the applicant, given that the most significant part of this that you'll have to prepare is the argument in-chief, and if you had a preference for either combining the remaining items on Thursday afternoon with your argument in-chief, or Friday morning as per the original schedule, I would leave that up to you and hear your comments.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think it's probably in everyone's interest to finish tomorrow afternoon.  That way, the Grimsby people won't have to come back for a third day.  And I believe Mr. Rubenstein has some availability issues on Friday, so Thursday is better for him.  So we will accommodate that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, that's great.  Well, we’ll proceed and see how far we're going to go today. Board Staff will defer, I think, their questions until tomorrow afternoon, and we'll just pick up on the schedule then.

Who's next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  Actually I'm going to jump ahead, because I will be much shorter than the 30 minutes and I just have a couple of questions.

The increase in FTEs is not related to any of the additional responsibilities related to the Niagara West transformer station, is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Not in whole.  In 2015, we hired -- in 2014, we had a director of engineering and operations.  We'd made a decision, based on the fact that we knew we were taking on Niagara West, to split that position into two positions and we hired an engineering supervisor, and part of his duties are related to the maintenance and operation of the station.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Now, is this in your 2015 FTE or in the incremental for 2016?

MR. CURTISS:  That's in 2005.

MR. STOLL:  2015?  Okay.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. STOLL:  So those are not -- there is no incremental bodies in 2016.

MR. CURTISS:  No, not specifically for the station, that's correct.

MR. STOLL:  So that would leave then, I believe Mr. Aiken said, about 217,000 OM&A related to Niagara West.

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct, yes.

MR. STOLL:  And the total incremental OM&A is about a million dollars from 2015 to 2016.

MR. CURTISS:  Are you included depreciation and interest?

MR. STOLL:  No, it was in the 2.9 million to the 3.9 million.

MR. CURTISS:  Sorry, I'm having trouble hearing.

MR. STOLL:  Sorry, this doesn't seem to be picking up unless I'm right against it.

The request for 2016 was 3,925,000 and change. My understanding was the 2015 actuals were 2,918,000.

MR. CURTISS:  I believe that's correct.

MR. STOLL:  And that 2,918,000 included about 50,000 for the three months of Niagara West?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Almost 60,000; 58,461, but it's only for three months.

MR. STOLL:  Correct, okay.  All I'm trying to do is figure out what is incremental to the normal distribution functions, the part other than the NWTC.  So it would be basically the difference between the 3 million less the 217,000 that was Niagara West related.

MR. CURTISS:  Direct costs, yes.  So we haven't broken out any types of costs in admin specifically for the station.  They were just built into the budget.

But in general terms, that's correct, the 217, take that off the 3.9 and that's roughly what GPI is at.

MR. STOLL:  So that would be roughly $750,000 in increase related to the non-NWTC functions within Grimsby.

MR. CURTISS:  True.

MR. STOLL:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

If I can just follow up on Mr. Stoll's question, is the difference between your forecast spending in the bridge year of 2015, Mr. Stoll went through with you in the actuals, is that due to the three-month stub period rather than the entire year?  Or is it due to something else?

MS. DOMOKOS:  If it's related to the station, it is strictly about initially we make the assumption it will be twelve months.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MS. DOMOKOS:  And in the actual, that was only three months.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's primarily the reason for the difference?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in relation to the NWTC station, how does the net savings that were projected of $35,000 figure into this?  Where do we see those savings?

MR. CURTISS:  So all this -- the part of the savings that you would see are of the administration costs with Niagara West to do with the board of directors, for example, with some of their third party service providers that provided bookkeeping services, the audit services.  So those savings are coming directly from there.

The GPI resources have picked up; obviously we've integrated the accounting piece into our current framework, as well as the oversight and engineering, et cetera.  So you are not seeing those costs as part of the savings, but the direct costs that have disappeared or are just -- they don't show up in our budget.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I want to follow up on something that was said in direct in relation to problems associated with comparing the OM&A from the last rebasing year to the current test year.

And in order to follow up on that, I just wanted to make sure that I had the appropriate list of the things that did not -- were not included in the last rate case.  And I think you've dealt with some of them with my friends here.  One, the cost for the smart meters that weren't included in the last cost of service; that was one of them.  The cost of including NWTC into the OM&A; that was obviously another one.

There is something called technological advances in the service offerings to customers that apparently was not included in the last rate case.  What are we talking about here?

MR. CURTISS:  Where's your reference to that?

MR. JANIGAN:  I thought it was in the -- well, first of all, in direct, I think you said something concerning an RP program that was generating information for customers.  I thought that was part of the technological advances that you were referring to.

MR. CURTISS:  Oh, from the last cost of service?

MR. JANIGAN:  That wasn't there from the last cost of service.  What I'm talking about are new things.

MR. CURTISS:  So things that we have implemented since two-12?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. CURTISS:  Yeah.  So one of the major pieces would be our ERP system.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the customer information system on -- if I look on page 6 of my compendium.  You have that there.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. McOuat, is there a way to decrease the -- or reduce the blinds?  Do you have any idea -- could you -- it is getting quite warm in here.  I was just wondering.  Thank you.

--- Off-mic discussion while blinds are adjusted.

MS. DUFF:  I'm sorry for the interruption.  I just thought it would make it more comfortable for everybody, so...

MR. JANIGAN:  No, that's great.

If you look at Table 4-4, which is on page 6 of my compendium, would these costs be those of the customer information SAP costs of 51,762 and the automated reading and verifications of 77,554?  Are those the costs that you were referring to that didn't appear in 2012 and are appearing here?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  So if you did an apples-to-apples comparison of 2012 and 2016, you would need to add this 129,316 to 2012 in order to do an adequate comparison.

MR. CURTISS:  I believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in addition we have growth over the five-year period, and Grimsby's -- Power's number of customers has increased by 6.4 percent; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And do you have any figure or factor that is associated with a growth number or growth percentage that you use to estimate what costs a growth, let's say a 1 percent growth, would have?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we do not.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would you take any issue with the Board's benchmark values that are prepared by PEG?  Are you familiar with them?

MR. CURTISS:  I'm familiar with the PEG report, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would the benchmark values associated with growth -- would you have any dispute with them in terms of what the effect of growth is on OM&A?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't think I would want to use that approach in my approach to OM&A.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. CURTISS:  If that's what you're asking.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  But you have no dispute with those numbers, I take it, do you?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't have any dispute with the PEG report, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in addition to the -- what we have covered, there would also be some kind of increase associated with inflation?

MR. CURTISS:  Certainly.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, and another cost that was not included in the 2012 proceeding was the addition of staff for succession planning; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  So which year are you referring to?

MR. JANIGAN:  2012 to 2016.  So looking at 2016 costs.  I mean, what I'm taking is, okay, what you've told us is that it's not fair to take a look at 2012 and then look at 2016 and say, okay, that there's this huge increase, and I'm trying to explore the reasons for the increase that are involved, costs that were not included in the 2012 rates application.

MR. CURTISS:  Well, I think I said there were some costs that we knew about that weren't included in rates in that the base value that the Board had approved for us are starting off with below those values, so all my point was that, you know, we have these costs that are being incurred.  They are above and beyond the Board-approved OM&A values, and therefore any benchmarking against the base OEB-approved level is going to paint us worse than we actually are.

MR. JANIGAN:  So there's two types of costs.  One are the costs that never appeared in the application simply because they are things that appeared later, like meter --cost to Smart Meters, costs of NWTC, and this sort of thing.  Then as I understand it there are costs that -- the category you've just dealt, they are costs that were overruns from your 2012 application; is that what they were?  I mean, you overspent in 2012, and the reason for that overspending, I think you've said, is that they were costs that you incurred that were not in the application itself.

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  There were costs that were a result of the realization of the Smart Meter OM&A expenses that got attributed to 2012, so they were in a deferral account, and they got realized in actual OM&A, and that's part of two-12, and that's part of the reason why there's a gap.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but that was in my first category.  I was wondering if there was another category of expenses that were incurred that were not in 2012 but that I haven't covered?

MR. CURTISS:  I don't believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  On page 12 of your -- of my compendium, it's noted that in response to Energy Probe -- 4-Energy Probe-22, we can see that the capitalized portion of the OM&A has an increase from 80,000 to 171,000.  So once again, I take it if we were doing an apples-to-apples comparison we would need at about 91,000 to your OM&A from 2012?

Or if we put it another way, your 2016 OM&A is understated by 91,000 in comparison to 2012 due to the fact that more OM&A is capitalized in 2016 than in 2012; do you agree with that?

MR. CURTISS:  Why would that be a relevant comparison?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, all I'm saying is that if you were comparing 2012 to 2016 you would have to include that number; would you agree or not agree?

MR. CURTISS:  No, I don't think I'd agree with that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I'm going to deal with your succession planning that my friends have, in part, dealt with.  And as I understand from reading the succession-planning material, that there are a number of hires that are anticipated, and I wonder if I could go through them with you to see if I have the right status for all of those hires.

We have the executive assistant, which I think was dealt with earlier, that was apparently hired in November 2015.

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And we have an application system support technician which you are presently recruiting?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct also.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you have a journeyman or journeyman apprentice, which is it, that you are presently recruiting one position?

MR. CURTISS:  Apprentice.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And that apprentice is to replace or is it a new hire altogether?  Is it replacing a journeyman or is it a new hire?

MR. CURTISS:  We have a journeyman that is eligible in 2018, so this was an understudy, if you will, for that one position.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you are contemplating a start date of what?

MR. CURTISS:  I believe it is in the fall.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you have a second journeyman apprentice as well that you will be recruiting following this application.  Is that a replacement or a new hire?

MR. CURTISS:  That's for succession planning purposes.  We have another journeyman who is eligible for retirement in 2023.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  So this is a backfill for that position.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the journeyman apprentice will be starting in – after the application was approved presumably in 2016, and will be there until 2023 to replace the journeyman?  Is that what the plan is?

MR. CURTISS:  The plan is to put that person through the an apprentice program under the guidance of a fully trained journeyman.  And when the journeyman -- when the two journeymen that are scheduled for retirement retire, we would be back to a complement of four journeymen, which is our current complement.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you are hiring a customer account Supervisor, recruiting to begin in quarter 2 of 2016; has that begun?

MR. CURTISS:  Not quite yet.  We’re behind on that one.  But that's currently in the plan to hire roughly around October the 1st.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is this related to is being succession planning?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes it is – sorry, which one did you ask me about?

MR. JANIGAN:  Customer accounts supervisor.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, it is.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the application systems support technician, is that related to succession planning as well?

MR. CURTISS:  No, this is a new position.

MR. JANIGAN:  New position, okay.  And there is a customer account representative, with recruiting to begin following the approval of the application in 2016.

MR. CURTISS:  That's a new position.

MR. JANIGAN:  That's a new position.  The accounting Supervisor, recruiting to begin following approval of application; is that a new position?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, it is.

MR. JANIGAN:  And we have the executive assistant who is replacing the executive assistant that you hired in November of 2015, is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Not exactly.  We have one and a half EAs projected.  We have currently one EA, and we will be recruiting for the half EA later on in the year.

MR. JANIGAN:   Is that a succession planning matter,  or is that a new position?

MR. CURTISS:  The half would be a new.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the storekeeper?

MR. CURTISS:  Going from part-time to full-time, so new, sort of, I guess.  We have an – we had a full-time storekeeper back in 2014.   We had some attrition and we tried to operate our store was a part-time FTE, and that hasn't worked out so well.

So we now project going back to a full-time storekeeper, so that's the .5-ish.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, how many of these positions related to succession planning are double-booked right now?

MR. CURTISS:  Double-booked?  So we have would have -- both journeymen would be, and the customer account supervisor would be.

MR. JANIGAN:  And that's it?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that's it.

MR. JANIGAN:  There’s not two executive assistants going around now?

MR. CURTISS:  No, we have one currently, and half a vacancy.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I believe you indicated that the retirement dates for the positions that you're backfilling are 2018 and 2023 for the two journeymen.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And for the accounts supervisor?

MR. CURTISS:  This year, end of the year.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you -- Grimsby wants to increase its staffing from 18.5 FTEs to 25.5.  Can you give us the cost of that increase, both in 2016 and in each year following until your next rebasing, the cost of those increases?  Is it possible to isolate that?

MR. CURTISS:  I believe we could do that.  We would have to obviously make some assumptions for the years after 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  That would be excellent.  Could I have an undertaking on that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, that will be undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE COST TO INCREASE STAFFING FROM 18.5 FTES TO 25.5 BOTH IN 2016 AND IN EACH YEAR FOLLOWING UNTIL THE NEXT REBASING

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I want to briefly deal with the question of productivity that my friends touched upon.  If you could turn up page 19, and looking at table 4.6 -- 4-6, there's the measure concerning OM&A per customer that appears that Grimsby's performance on that measure is significantly worsening insofar as the amount of OM&A per customer is going up from $184 to $282 from the last rebasing.

Would you agree with me?

MR. CURTISS:  Sorry, you are referring to numbers in the table?  Sorry.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, yes, I'd agree.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it appears that the largest increases are curried in the bridge year and in the test year; would you agree with that?

MR. CURTISS:  Well, the last rebasing year, 2012, is higher than the 2016.

MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry?  The two -- yes, the 281.93 in the next test year and the 235.59 both represent significant increases over the 2014 actuals; would you agree?

MR. CURTISS:  Sorry, are you talking about OM&A per customer?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  All right.  Yeah, I'd agree.

MR. JANIGAN:  On this measure, your performance is decreased by 53 per cent.  Is there a good reason for the decrease in this measure?

MR. CURTISS:  I think that's a simple mathematical question, number one.

Number two, you know, on any given measure, I don't believe that these measures unto themselves are an indicator of performance --

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. CURTISS:  -- on their own.

MR. JANIGAN:  In other words, you'd have to have more than one measure?

MR. CURTISS:  Absolutely.

MR. JANIGAN:  If I can turn you to the response in 1-Staff-6 which is on page 21, the table there, you provided a table showing Grimsby's rates and ranks -- rank in comparison to nearby utilities and where Horizon's rates went up roughly $3 from 2015 to 2016, your rates have gone up by roughly $10; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And although some utilities have done worse, the drop in rank from 16th to 24th doesn’t seem to be much of an improvement.  Am I reading that wrong?

MR. CURTISS:  In strict terms, yes, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And on page 22 of my compendium, at Board Staff 35, Board Staff asked you for productivity benefits over the last rate period, and you referred to your evidence in Exhibit 1.

And as I understand it, that exhibit contains a number of initiatives that the utility is undertaking.  For example, you talk about outsourced billing and how many customers went to e-billing, and some of these things seem like productivity initiatives and others just seem like things that you have to do, like refurbishing a transformer.

The only comprehensive table I could find where you list the quantitative results of the efficiency initiative seems to be at 196 of your response, and that's on the following page, on page 23.

Does the $24,784.73 represent the sum of your productivity initiatives over the past four years?

MR. CURTISS:  It represents the -- some of the measured savings, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is there any other measured saving table that you can point me to that gives me additional information?

MR. CURTISS:  No, there isn't.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in response to 4-Staff-36 on page 24, you've provided a table at page 26 of my compendium that shows the short-term incentive payout.  Can you briefly describe what short-term incentive payouts are?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, these are -- another word for this would be our bonus system for management team.  We have both corporate and individual metrics.  And those -- the results of those measures are weighted and fed into a system that produces a short-term incentive based on annual performance.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it appears here that the short-term incentive payouts rose from 36,720 in 2011 to 81,495 in 2016, and that at the same time the maximum value for payout rose roughly 67,000 to 139,000; is that a correct reading of the table?

MR. CURTISS:  I believe so.

MR. JANIGAN:  And I take it that the parameters for the payout of this -- of these incentive payouts were not based on some of the measures that we just discussed, such as an increase in OM&A per customer, increase in rates, or an increase in OM&A in general?

MR. CURTISS:  No, that's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I wonder if I could turn you to page 30 of my compendium.  And these are OM&A tables that were extracted from the last time you were before the Board, and I know we are comparing a CGAAP table in 2012 to an MIFRS table in 2016, but I'm just looking at the pattern.

It seems to me that in your last rate application, in the four or five years before the bridge or test year in 2012, your OM&A was pretty steady; do you see that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And then suddenly in the bridge year and especially in the test year it jumps quite a lot; would you agree?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, I wonder if you look at your 2012 to 2016 in this case, it seems to me that we have a very similar pattern and very big increases in OM&A occurring in the bridge in the test year.

And I look at 2012, these increases in the bridge and test year were 15.2 per cent and 13 per cent, and in the bridge and the test year here it's 5 per cent and 34 per cent.

Is that just a coincidence, or is there something else behind these patterns?

MR. CURTISS:  I think this is partly due to the, you know, the way the rate regime is determined with cost of service and the four- and now five-year rate periods, we make step changes at the end of those periods, so it's -- to me it's natural to conclude that in the bridge and the test year you're going to have increases if you need to support your case going forward.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in your examination in-chief you noted, I guess, that -- what was to be accomplished in the 2012 rate case and what was to be accomplished in the 2016 rate case, and in the 2012 rate case, effectively, it was a case of righting the ship, and in the 2016 case you indicated a number of things that had to be done, a number of different challenges that had to be met that the rate application was designed to meet.  Am I correct in the general summary of that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can you indicate, in those challenges that the utility has to meet in 2016, which one of -- what -- which of those challenges are unique to Grimsby and which are shared with the rest of the electrical utilities?

MR. CURTISS:  I can't speak for other utilities.  I would say there probably is a number of things that are common amongst LDCs.  You know, based on customer requirements, I think it would be fairly fair to say that customers want more information.  They want more communication.  They are still concerned with rates.  They want some sort of a personal contact, interaction with staff at the customer level, so I would say most of those things are common, and I wouldn't say that we had anything unique, other than the fact that I think other utilities are probably way farther ahead in some of those initiatives than we are.

MR. JANIGAN:  Would it be the case then, given those commonalities, that we can anticipate that other utilities will be coming forward with 34 per cent increases on OM&A in the future?

MR. CURTISS:  I think every rate case is unique amongst itself, so I wouldn't want to generalize with that respect.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are my questions for the panel.  Thank you, Panel, for your patience.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.

Just as a final preliminary matter, I don't know how many of the parties are planning to return tomorrow afternoon, but if you are not, I would encourage you, please, to talk to Ms. McOuat regarding submission of -- filing of your submissions and dates.  To the extent people have contract -- conflicts, if we could kind of get a sense of that, and then she can communicate that to the panel.

So usually we have, after the final day, we have argument in-chief.  It is usually like a ten-day, two-week period for filing of submissions generally, and then one week after that would be the final submission, just, we need to settle those dates, and if people aren't in the room tomorrow, perhaps you could communicate that today.

All right, so this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you very much, panel.  And until tomorrow at one o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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